
AGENDA
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY, JULY 13, 2021 – 5:59 PM 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

 

  
I. INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
  
II. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - PLEASE PROCEED TO THE PODIUM - 2 MINUTE TIME LIMIT

If you do not plan to attend the City Council Meeting due to COVID-19, you may submit your
comments to the City Clerk at cityclerk@cityofgoosecreek.com, via hand delivery or by US Mail
to Kelly Lovette, City Clerk, City of Goose Creek, P.O. Drawer 1768, Goose Creek, SC 29445.
Please send your comments to the City Clerk no later than 12:00 noon on the date of this
meeting; your remarks will be distributed to the Mayor and City Council but will not be read
aloud during the meeting.

  
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
   
 a. City Council Meeting - June 8, 2021

City Council Workshop - June 22, 2021
  
IV. PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS
   
 a. Presentation to City Council - One Region Roadmap (Brent Jonas, Director Stakeholder

Relations, Charleston Regional Development Alliance)
 

  
V. OLD BUSINESS & PUBLIC HEARINGS
   
 a. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH

CAROLINA, BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT
128 HOWE HALL ROAD (TMS # 252-01-03-007) FROM CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE
DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (GC) - (Second and Final Reading of a
Public Hearing)

   
 b. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE "CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA", BY AMENDING TITLE XV - LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER "ZONING
BOARD OF APPEALS SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS", AND SUBCHAPTER
"ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD SECTION 151.190(F)(6) - MEETINGS" BY REMOVING ANY
REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR THEIR RESPECTIVE MEETINGS - (Second and Final
Reading of a Public Hearing)

 
PURSUANT TO FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT SC CODE 30-4-80; WRITTEN NOTICE
WAS DELIVERED TO THE PRESS BY EMAIL ON FRIDAY, JULY 9, 2021 AND DULY
POSTED AT CITY HALL LOCATED AT 519 N GOOSE CREEK BOULEVARD AND ON
CITYOFGOOSECREEK.COM. CITY HALL IS AN ACCESSIBLE FACILITY, FOR
ASSISTANCE CALL 843-797-6220 X. 1113.

1



   
 c. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES
AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW CHAPTER 152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL
WIRELESS FACILITIES - (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 d. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND
OTHER PUBLIC PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND
DISTRICT - (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

  
VI. NEW BUSINESS & PUBLIC HEARINGS
   
 a. AN ORDINANCE DECLARING A MORATORIUM ON THE ISSUANCE OF NEW BUSINESS

LICENSES, PERMITS FOR EXPANSION, AND/OR CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY FOR USED
AUTOMOBILE-VEHICLE SALES AND/OR REPAIR-SERVICE SHOPS IN CERTAIN AREAS OF THE
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 b. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA BY REVISING AND MAKING CHANGES TO CHAPTER 37 ELECTIONS,
SECTION 37.03 WHEN ELECTIONS TO BE HELD (Introduction and First Reading of a Public
Hearing)

   
 c. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 33: CITY ORGANIZATIONS, CULTURAL ARTS

COMMISSION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA, BY REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY SECTION 33.102 COMPOSITION AND
FUNCTIONS AND ADOPTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 33.102 COMPOSITION
AND FUNCTIONS, WHICH IS MADE A PART HEREOF AS IS FULLY SET OUT HEREIN
(Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

  
VII. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
   
 b. Approval of Records Retention Schedule - Fire/EMS Department - (COVID-19

VACCINATION RECORDS) - City Clerk
  
VIII. MAYOR'S REPORT
  
IX. MONTHLY DEPARTMENT REPORTS
   
 a. MONTHLY REPORT OF CONTRACTS OVER $25,000; EXEMPTIONS AND 2021 FISCAL YEAR

BUDGET APPROVALS (Informational Purposes Only)
   
 b. June Monthly Department Reports (Informational Purposes Only)
  
X. ADJOURN

2



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council

From: Kelly J. Lovette, City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
City Council Meeting - June 8, 2021
City Council Workshop - June 22, 2021

Background Summary

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

3



Page 1 of 5

MINUTES
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY, June 8, 2021 – 6:00 PM

CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS
519 N GOOSE CREEK BOULEVARD

MAYOR/COUNCIL PRESENT:
Mayor G regory S.  Habib
Mayor Pro Tem Jerry T ekac
Councilmember Hannah Cox
Councilmember Me liss a Enos
Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher
Councilmember Co rey McClary
Councilmember Gayla McSwain

CITY STAFF:
City Administrato r Nat alie  Zeig ler
Assistant  City Administrator Brian Cook
City Clerk Kel ly J .  Love tte
Chief  Financia l  Off icer Tyler Howanyk
Director of  P lanning & Zoning Mark Brodeur
Chief  of  Pol ice LJ  Roscoe
Director of  Informat io n Technology Ryan Byrd
Director of  Recre at ion TJ Rost in
Director of  Public  Works  Chuck Denson
Public  Info rmatio n Off icer Frank Johnson

PRESS PRESENT:
None

GUESTS PRESENT:
None

                                                                               

PURSUANT TO THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT SC CODE 30-4-80: WRITTEN NOTICE WAS DELIVERED TO THE 
PRESS BY EMAIL ON FRIDAY, JUNE 4, 2021, AND DULY POSTED AT CITY HALL LOCATED AT 519 N GOOSE CREEK 
BOULEVARD, AN ACCESSIBLE FACILITY, AND ON CITYOFGOOSECREEK.COM

I. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Habib called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm and requested Councilmember McClary to lead in the 
invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.

II. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENTS: Note: All comments sent to the City Clerk by 12:00 noon on the date of this 
meeting, via US Mail or Email, as stated on the meeting Agenda, were forwarded to City Council.

Mr. Keith Carter, 346 Camelot Drive, stated his concerns to City Council regarding traffic issues wherein people 
are using Camelot Drive as a cut through to Pineview Boulevard. He stated he spoke with Lt. Quinn about 
providing traffic enforcement in that area. Lt. Quinn stated she would turn in a traffic complaint to see what could 
be done. Mayor Habib thanked Mr. Carter and stated he was sure the complaint was forwarded to the right 
individuals, and they would be looking into the matter.

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

a. City Council Meeting – May 11, 2021
b. City Council Workshop – May 25, 2021

Motion: Councilmember Enos; Second: Councilmember Cox
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

IV. PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS:

4



Page 2 of 5

a. Recognition of High School Student Athletes/Presentation of Mayor’s Cup

The following athletes were recognized by Mayor Habib and presented with the Mayor’s Certificate of Honor. 

Yaturi Bolton (Goose Creek High School) - All State in Football; Melvin Ravenel (Goose Creek High School) –
All State in Football; Demetri Simmons (Goose Creek High School) – All State in Football and Basketball; 
Danielle Brown (Stratford High School) – All State in Track and Field

Mayor Habib presented the Mayor’s Cup to Mr. John Chalus, Athletic Director, Stratford High School. 

V. OLD BUSINESS & PUBLIC HEARINGS

a. AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF THE CODE OF 
LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN AREA INDENTIFIED AS TMS 235-13-02-
053, LOCATED AT 108 STEPHANIE DRIVE, INTO THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Motion: Councilmember Green-Fletcher; Second: Councilmember Enos
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

b. AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF THE CODE OF 
LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN AREA IDENTIFIED AS TMS 235-13-02-
019, LOCATED ON LIZ LANE, INTO THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL 
CORPORATION (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Motion: Councilmember Cox; Second: Councilmember McClary
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

c. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO 
PROVIDE FOR CHANGES IN THE ZONING DISTRICTS OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK BY CHANGING THE 
ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED ON THE CORNER OF SASS DRIVE AND OLD 
MONCKS CORNER ROAD, FURTHER IDENTIFIED AS TMS# 234-08-00-084, FROM GENERAL COMMERCIAL 
(GC) TO LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-1) (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Motion: Councilmember Enos; Second: Councilmember Cox
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

d. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO TITLE III, CHAPTER 34: FINANCE AND TAXATION, BY 
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT SECTION "PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES" AND 
ADOPTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION "PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES" MADE A 
PART HEREOF AND SET OUT HEREIN (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Motion: Mayor Pro Tem Tekac; Second: Councilmember Enos
Discussion: Councilmember McSwain inquired if the amended language was in the final document. Mrs. 
Zeigler stated yes.
Carried: All ayes.

VI. NEW BUSINESS & PUBLIC HEARINGS

a. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE "CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 

5



Page 3 of 5

CAROLINA", BY AMENDING TITLE XV - LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER "ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS", AND SUBCHAPTER "ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD SECTION 
151.190(F)(6) -MEETINGS" BY REMOVING ANY REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR THEIR RESPECTIVE 
MEETINGS - (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Mayor Habib stated the Architectural Review Board and Zoning Board of Appeals want to, and should, 
change the time so it is convenient, not only to its members, but also for those who are going before them for 
business. 

Motion: Councilmember Green-Fletcher; Second: Councilmember McSwain
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

b. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, BY 
CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 128 HOWE HALL ROAD (TMS 
# 252-01-03-007) FROM CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT (GC) - (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Mayor Habib stated this property came into the City during a time when everything that was annexed came 
in immediately as Conservation Open Space. He stated there is a storage unit on this property that pre-exits 
its annexation which would make it a non-conforming use; so, the proposed Ordinance is simply to zone the 
property appropriately. Mr. David Bunch thanked City Council for clearing up the matter concerning zoning.

Motion: Councilmember Enos; Second: Mayor Pro Tem Tekac
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

c. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY 
THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW CHAPTER 
152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES - (Introduction and First Reading of a 
Public Hearing)

Mayor Habib stated the Municipal Association of South Carolina updated its model ordinance with some 
changes, it is negotiated with a lot of wireless carriers, and it allows for municipalities to have some control 
on what they look like and where they are placed.

Motion: Councilmember Green-Fletcher; Second: Councilmember Cox
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

d. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER PUBLIC 
PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND DISTRICT - (Introduction and First 
Reading of a Public Hearing)

Mayor Habib stated the proposed Ordinance is in response to the Municipal Association of South Carolina’s 
update to the model ordinance relative to the small wireless facilities, which creates an underground district, 
which again, allows the City to manage where, when, and how wireless units are erected. 

Motion: Councilmember McSwain; Second: Mayor Pro Tem Tekac
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

6



Page 4 of 5

e. A RESOLUTION COMMITTING THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK TO PROVIDING A PROGRAM FEE FOR THE 
MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH CAROLINA RETAIL RECRUITMENT TRAINING PROGRAM 
(Introduction, First and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Motion: Mayor Pro Tem Tekac; Second: Councilmember Enos
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

VII. ADMINISTRATOR’SREPORT

a. EMS Contract with Berkeley County

Mrs. Zeigler presented a request for approval of the renewal of the contract with Berkeley County regarding 
EMS in the total amount of $209,230, as discussed at the recent City Council Workshop.

Motion: Councilmember McSwain; Second: Councilmember Cox
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

b. Request to Hire Contractor for Landscaped Medians (St. James Avenue/Highway 176 Safety Project)

Mrs. Zeigler presented to City Council a request to hire AOS, the lowest qualified bidder for the landscape of 
the medians on St. James Avenue/Highway 176. She stated there were four (4) bidders, but two (2) were 
disqualified due to not submitting proper documents. She stated the amount was higher than originally 
budgeted; however, the approval was done pre-COVID, and costs have gone up and City staff is working 
closely with the landscape architect to try and change out some of the plantings so City staff can lower the 
costs, and staff will keep City Council posted.

Motion: Councilmember Enos; Second: Councilmember McSwain
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

c. Code Enforcement Officer Update

Mrs. Zeigler stated there have been some staff changes and City Council is required by Ordinance to appoint 
and approve the Code Enforcement Officers of the City. A list of Code Enforcement Officers was provided 
within City Council’s packet. 

Motion: Councilmember Cox; Second: Councilmember McClary
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

d. Request to Hire Trident Construction - Eubanks / Casey Park

Mrs. Zeigler presented to City Council a request to hire Trident Construction for the design/build project of 
Eubanks Park, not to exceed $5,000,000. She stated there were nine (9) qualified bidders, City staff 
interviewed all nine (9) and narrowed the selection down to three (3) highly qualified companies and is 
recommending Trident Construction. She stated she did wish to point out she has worked with Trident 
Construction in the past, they developed the waterpark for the City of Hartsville, and it was a very successful 
project. 

Motion: Councilmember Green-Fletcher; Second: Councilmember McClary
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes.

7



Page 5 of 5

VIII. MAYOR’S REPORT

Mayor Habib spoke of the rain that moved through the area on June 5, 2021, and of the flooding that occurred in 
some areas of the City, and that he ran in to City staff that was, like him, out and about inspecting areas 
throughout. Mayor Habib provided some history of the City’s storm water management, and stated there were 
some flooding issues in Pineview, Boulder Bluff and Foxborough wherein there were some problems. He stated
immediately staff from the City and Berkeley County were working together making sure the drain valves were 
open so water could move freely, namely at Foxborough Lake, as well as several other areas, to make sure what 
occurred did not happen again. He stated one of the issues was a Beaver dam that was built, and he pointed out 
this has been an ongoing issue. He stated the City received 6 ½ inches of rain in less than two (2) hours, and storm 
water drains are designed to handle 6 ½ inches of rain in twenty-four (24) hours.

Mayor Habib also invited everyone to attend the Police Department’s Hot Pursuit 5K, wherein there are currently 
353 preregistered, and the monies raised will go toward the Police Department’s help fund, Shop with a Badge, 
during Christmas. He also invited everyone to attend the Farmer’s and Artisans Market held most Saturdays, as 
well as, the City’s Fourth of July Festival and to enjoy the fireworks display and to help celebrate the City’s 60th

Anniversary. 

IX. ADJOURN

Motion: Councilmember Cox; Second: Councilmember Enos
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes. 6:43 p.m.

Date: July 13, 2021
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC
City Clerk

8



Page 1 of 2

MINUTES
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA

CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP
TUESDAY, JUNE 22, 2021 – 6:00 PM
FIRE STATION I – TRAINING ROOM

201 BUTTON HALL AVENUE

MAYO R /CO U NCIL  P R E SE NT :
May or  G re g ory  S.  Ha b i b
May or  Pr o T em Je rry  T e ka c
Co un c i l me m b er  Hann ah  Co x
Co un c i l me m b er  Me l is s a  Enos
Co un c i l me m b er  D e bra  Gr e en- Fl et c h er
Co un c i l me m b er  C or ey M cC lar y
Co un c i l me m b er  Gay la  M cS wa in- B y  P hon e

CITY  S TA F F :
Cit y  A dm in is tr at or  Na ta l i e  Z e ig l er
As s is ta nt  C it y  A dm in is t rato r  B r i an C o o k
Cit y  C l er k Ke l ly  J .  Lo v et te
Ty le r  Ho wan y k,  C h i ef  F i nan cia l  O f f ic e r

PR ES S P R ES E NT:
Non e

GU ES TS  P R ES E NT:
Non e

                                                                              

PURSUANT TO THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT SC CODE 30-4-80: WRITTEN NOTICE WAS DELIVERED TO THE 
PRESS BY EMAIL ON FRIDAY, JUNE 18, 2021, AND DULY POSTED AT CITY HALL LOCATED AT 519 N GOOSE CREEK 
BOULEVARD, AN ACCESSIBLE FACILITY, AND ON CITYOFGOOSECREEK.COM

I. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Habib called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.

II. DISCUSSION ITEM(S)

a. Kathy Maness, Councilwoman, Town of Lexington, and President of the National League of Cities

Mrs. Maness was not able to make the meeting due to an unexpected family matter. She has been rescheduled for 
the upcoming City Council Workshop in August.

b. Discussion of Cultural Arts Commission Requirements

Mrs. Zeigler stated this was Mayor Habib’s idea and it was a good one. She stated we have had difficulty recruiting 
people for the Cultural Arts Commission and by City Code, it says it is composed of seven (7) residents of the City. 
We are recommending adding of the “the City or the Goose Creek Recreation District” so City staff can expand the 
advertising for our recruiting efforts. After a brief discussion, it was decided the CAC would be comprised of up to 
two (2) seats would be filled by residents from the Goose Creek Recreation District and five (5) seats would be filled 
by residents of Goose Creek.

c. Discussion of a Moratorium on the Issuance of New Business Licenses, Permits for Expansion, Certificates of
Occupancy for: (1) Used Automobile Vehicle Sales; (2) Repair Shops

Mr. Cook briefed City Council on the proposed Zoning Code rewrite within the areas of the City’s existing incentive 
zones that were previously approved by City Council. He stated City staff has received a good many inquiries by 
people who wished to open used car lots and repair shops along the Redbank Road corridor. He reviewed the City’s 
current zoning for the uses of these types of businesses and commented on future development within the overlay
district in the incentives area and how this could affect the areas redevelopment. He stated this would be a 
temporary moratorium that is being suggested by the Zoning staff’s recommendation. Mayor Habib elaborated on 
what Mr. Cook stated and he gave a brief history on where the incentive area came from. He stated the 
moratorium would be used to make that area and our City what we would want it to look like and what we would 
want to see in those areas. Mrs. Zeigler stated City staff was recommending a moratorium for at least 18 months
until the overlay of the zoning district can be completed. After discussion amongst City Council on the subject, 

9



Page 2 of 2

types of businesses currently in that area and the vision the City has for future growth, it was decided to take a
proposed Ordinance before City Council at their regular City Council meeting in July.

d. Special Events Discussion

Mr. Howanyk thoroughly briefed and reviewed with City Council the need for a Special Events Ordinance and 
presented to them City staff’s proposed suggestions of what should be implemented within a newly revised 
Special Events Application; as well as the need for a Parade Ordinance. Mr. Howanyk stated Greenville has many 
special events throughout the year and City staff has thoroughly reviewed their Special Events Application and are 
recommending modeling the City’s very much like Greenville’s. Mr. Howanyk thoroughly answered all of City 
Council’s questions. 

e. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, BY REVISING AND MAKING CHANGES TO THE ELECTIONS, SECTION 37.03 WHEN ELECTIONS 
TO BE HELD

Mayor Habib stated the next item has to do with changing the election years from even to odd years. Mrs. Zeigler 
stated within the City Council packet is a list of municipalities who already hold their elections during odd number 
years. Mayor Habib stated it was thought by City Council to move the elections to November, wherein there are 
more people voting; but hindsight being what it is, it was not discussed wherein the elections should be held during 
odd number years in November, so the public is recognizing it is municipal election time and municipal elections 
are not being drowned out by the presidential election. Mayor Habib stated the Municipal Associations of all the 
states and the International City Council Manager’s Association are in support of this and much of the research 
shows your ability to drive the narrative is most effective on odd number years, so you are not competing with all 
the noise from the General Election, and the media has the ability to focus on municipal elections. Participation 
during an odd number year is going to be much greater than an election in April whether it be in odd or even 
number years. There was a brief discussion on incentivizing elections for voters, as well as how to go about making 
the change. It was stated there would be council members serving one (1) term of five (5) years in order to get the 
elections moved to even number years. Mayor Habib suggested those Council members running for council in 2022 
would be for one (1) five-year term and those Council members who were not running in 2022, their terms would 
be extended for one (1) additional year. Councilmember McSwain stated she did not wish to move the elections to 
odd number years. Mayor Pro Tem Tekac stated he concurred with Mayor Habib on the length of terms for the 
2022 election (five (5) year term) and extending the other Councilmembers for one (1) more year, making it a total 
of five (5). Councilmember McClary stated he felt by changing the elections to odd number years, there would be 
less people coming out to vote. Councilmember McSwain requested that City staff look at whether or not City 
Council could legally change the terms of office by extending same.

III. ADJOURNMENT

Motion: Mayor Pro Tem Tekac; Second: Councilmember McSwain
Discussion: None.
Carried: All ayes, 7:14 p.m.

Date: July 13, 2021
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC
City Clerk

10



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council

From: City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
Presentation to City Council - One Region Roadmap (Brent Jonas, Director Stakeholder Relations,
Charleston Regional Development Alliance)
 

Background Summary
This is a regional study on economic resiliency and expanding opportunity to all residents. This
effort is being led by One Region stakeholders including BCDCOG, Charleston Metro Chamber,
Charleston Regional Development Alliance, and the public, private, academic, and nonprofit
sectors of our community.

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

11



 

 
One Region Roadmap Seeks Crucial Input from Residents & Businesses 

Responses to region-wide survey are critical in driving strategic growth and creating 

opportunities for all communities 

 

NORTH CHARLESTON, S.C. (Tuesday, June 29, 2021) – One Region has launched a three-

county-wide survey aimed at further understanding the challenges faced by residents and 

businesses -- along with preferences regarding what opportunities the region should pursue 

today and in the future. 

Now, this comprehensive partnership of business, government, academic, nonprofit and 

community leaders is turning to the public for crucial input that only residents and business 

owners can provide. 

The survey can be found at OneRegionRoadmap.com and will be live through Aug. 20. 

 

“One Region is going straight to the source to hear from the Berkeley-Charleston-Dorchester 

community, so we can build on the lessons learned from COVID-19 and anticipate potential 

threats to our region’s economy,” said Dr. Kendra Stewart, One Region Chair and Director of 

the Joseph P. Riley, Jr. Center for Livable Communities at the College of Charleston. 

 

The survey is part of the One Region Roadmap: Opportunities for All effort.  The Roadmap is 

an economic recovery and resiliency plan that will define a healthy greater Charleston while 

offering real solutions, implementable actions and measurable results. 

 

“One Region Roadmap is an opportunity for the public to define the future of the Tri-County 

region and to address many of the longstanding challenges in our communities. The input we 

receive will help us define priorities to move our region forward,” said Dr. Stewart. 

 

One Region Roadmap: Opportunities for All is the next evolution of the One Region Strategy 

launched in 2016. It begins a new strategic planning and public input process, providing a broad 

platform for the community to address economic challenges old and new -- and to prepare for 

adversities yet to come. The plan should be completed by February 2022. 

 

12

http://www.oneregionroadmap.com/
http://www.oneregionroadmap.com/


 

Additional opportunities for engagement and to provide feedback will be available through the 

end of 2021.  

 

The effort is led by One Region stakeholders including BCDCOG, Charleston Metro Chamber, 

Charleston Regional Development Alliance, and the public, private, academic, and nonprofit 

sectors of our community.  

  

### 

 

MEDIA CONTACTS 

Daniel Brock     

Regional Strategist 

BCDCOG 

(919) 820-2612 

danielb@bcdcog.com 

 

Erin Aylor 

Senior Vice President of Marketing 

Charleston Metro Chamber 

(843) 805-3053 

eaylor@charlestonchamber.org 

 

Claire Gibbons 

Director of Global Marketing & Communications 

Charleston Regional Development Alliance 

(843) 697-9774 

cgibbons@crda.org 

 

Robert Flagler 

Senior Account Supervisor 

Rawle Murdy 

(803) 460-6904 

rflagler@rawlemurdy.com 

13



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL

From: MARK J BRODEUR

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA,
BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 128 HOWE HALL
ROAD (TMS # 252-01-03-007) FROM CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (GC) - (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
Request rezoning by owner of a property located on Howe Hall Road. The property, 128 Howe
Hall Road, is an existing mini storage facility named “Mini Warehouses of Goose Creek”. The
rezone proposal is to rezone this 2.35-acre property from Conservation/Open Space (C/OS) to
General Commercial (GC).

Financial Impact
The scope of the financial impact is significant in a positive way.

Impact if denied
Property may not be improved as a Non-conforming Use.

Impact if approved
Approval will permit the property owner to make needed improvements to existing use.

 

14



-

Mark J. Brodeur
Planning Director

CITY HALL
519 N. GOOSE CREEK BLVD.

P.O DRAWER 1768

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768

TEL (843) 797-6220 EXT 1118
FAX (843) 863-5208

   mbrodeur@cityofgoosecreek.com

     

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Mark Brodeur, Director, Planning & 
Zoning

DATE: June 8, 2021

SUBJECT: Rezoning Request

Proposal:
The applicant, Wando Properties, LLC, has requested to come before the 
Council to request rezoning a property located on Howe Hall Road. The 
property, 128 Howe Hall Road, is an existing mini storage facility named 
“Mini Warehouses of Goose Creek”. The rezone proposal is to rezone this 
2.35-acre property from Conservation/Open Space (C/OS) to General 
Commercial (GC). According to the Berkeley County Property Card, the 
property was annexed into the City of Goose Creek effective August 13, 
2013.

Background:
The subject property is identified as TMS #252-01-03-007. The property 
defines one of the City boundaries at the southern end of Goose Creek.
The property is narrow and very deep.  There is one primary structure that 
is very long and narrow. There are also several uncovered RV’s stored on 
the lot.

Discussion:
As currently situated, the mini-storage land use is a legal non-conforming 
use in the Conservation/Open Space Zoning designation. Since the use 
is non-conforming, no expansion or substantial improvements are 
permitted. The applicant wishes to change the zoning in order to make 
small, incremental improvements to the office and primary structure.
The current use is categorized in the Zoning Ordinance as 
“Warehousing, mini warehouses, with units having access from exterior 
of unit”. That use is permitted in the City’s General Industrial District and 
Heavy Industrial District. The applicant and staff felt that those two
proposed zoning designations were inappropriate given the zoning
currently surrounding the property. Thus, the applicant simply wants to 
rezone the property General Commercial while acknowledging that only 
small improvements can be made.
The subject site is bounded by a variety of land uses. Directly across the 
street is Howe Hall Aims Elementary School. Flanking the site is a vacant 
5.21-acre wooded site that is zoned General Commercial and owned by 
Wando Properties LLC. This property was annexed into the City in 2006. 
On the other flank, the properties are in Berkeley County and are zoned 
R-2 and General Commercial. There are no industrially zoned properties 
in the vicinity.

Recommendation:
Hold the first reading of two readings and direct the City Clerk to 
schedule the second of the two public hearings.

15



16



Page 1 of 5 
 

 

STAFF REPORT FOR THE 
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK PLANNING COMMISSION & CITY 

COUNCIL 
For reference, the City of Goose Creek Code of Ordinances are available online at 

https://www.cityofgoosecreek.com/government/code-ordinances 

 

Agenda Item  

Request #: 2520103007 

Applicant: David W. Bunch, Chairman/CEO Bunch Truck Group 

Location/Address: 128 Howe Hall Road 

Requested Zoning 
District:  

GC – General Commercial 

 

Subject Parcel 

Property Owner: Wando Properties, LLC 

Tax Map Number: 252-01-03-007 

Approximate 
Acreage: 

2.35 

Plat Book & Page: 3738, Page 0321 

NEW Comprehensive 
Plan Land Use Map 
Designation: 

Village Node Mixed Use 

Current Zoning:   CO - Conservation Open Space  

 

Property Zoning to the  Property Uses to the 

North: General Commercial North: School 

South: General Commercial South: Multi-Family Residential 

East: Berkeley County General Commercial East: Duplex residential and vacant 

West: General Commercial West: Vacant 

 
  

17



Page 2 of 5 
 

Aerial Map  
 

    
 

Zoning Map  
 

 
  

18



Page 3 of 5 
 

 
Comprehensive Plan  

 

 

19



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan  

The newly created Comprehensive Plan tentatively recommends this area for Village Node District.  The 

Village Node District is intended to encourage the mixture of residential, commercial and institutional uses 
in a walkable setting.  
 

  

       
History of Property  

Date  Type of Request  Decision  

2006  Annexation Annexed 

   

 
Staff Comments 

The Applicant is requesting to rezone the parcel from CO - Conservation Open Space to GC General 
Commercial. In 2006 when it was annexed into the City the Co Zoning was automatically applied to the 
property. The applicant never sought to rezone it appropriately. 
Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

 

An existing mini storage facility occupies the site. The applicant would like to remove the “mobile home” 
office into a more permanent structure. 

 
Anticipated Meeting Schedule 

Body  Meeting Date  Action  

Planning Commission  April 6, 2021 Pending 

Planning Commission Click or tap here to enter text.  

City Council Public Hearing May 11, 2021 Pending 

City Council Public hearing June 8, 2021 Pending 

City Council Meetings subject to change.  Please check the website for up-to-date information. 

 

 

 

 

 

20



Page 5 of 5 
 

 

 

 

 
Planning Commission Voted to _______ the request by a vote of __ to _____.  
 
Planning Commission Comments:  
Motion was made to ________ the rezoning of 128 Howe Hall Road from Conservation/Open Space to 
General Commercial on April 6, 2021.  
 

 

 

 

 
Planning Commission Chair Signature:                                                                               Date: April 6, 2021 

Joshua Johnson 

 

21



ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,
SOUTH CAROLINA, BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 128 HOWE HALL ROAD (TMS # 252-01-03-007) FROM
CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
(GC)

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Goose Creek held a public
hearing on April 6, 2021 to receive public comment and to consider a change in
zoning classification from Conservation/Open Space (CO}to General Commercial
(GC); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to said public hearing, the Planning Commission voted
unanimously to recommend approval of the rezoning of the property aforesaid to the
General Commercial (GC) zoning district; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Goose Creek unanimously voted to 
support the zone change.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City
Councilof the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, that the Zoning Map of the City
of Goose Creek, South Carolina, is hereby amended by changing the zoning district
classification of the property located at 128 Howe Hall Road, designated as TMS #235-
01-03-007, from Conservation/Open Space (CO) to General Commercial (GC).

All ordinances and provisions in conflict herewith are repealed, and if any
sentence, clause, phrase, or word contained herein shall be held invalid, such
invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption.

INTRODUCED the 8th day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

22



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council Members

From: Mark Brodeur

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE "CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA", BY AMENDING TITLE XV - LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER "ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS", AND SUBCHAPTER "ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD
SECTION 151.190(F)(6) - MEETINGS" BY REMOVING ANY REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR
THEIR RESPECTIVE MEETINGS - (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment would remove any Municipal Code requirements for
the starting time of public meetings before the Architectural Review Board and Zoning Board of
Appeals.

Financial Impact
None

Impact if denied
Both the ARB and the ZBA would not be permitted to meet at an earlier or later time.

Impact if approved
ARB and ZBA would be permitted to vary their start times to accommodate the public.

 

23



-- -

Mark J. Brodeur
Planning Director

CITY HALL
519 N. GOOSE CREEK BLVD.

P.O DRAWER 1768

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768

TEL (843) 797-6220 EXT 1118
FAX (843) 863-5208

   mbrodeur@cityofgoosecreek.com

     

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City 
Council

FROM: Mark Brodeur, Planning and Zoning 
Director

DATE:  June 8, 2021

SUBJECT: Public Hearing to consider the elimination of a ‘Start 
Time” for meetings before the Architectural Review Board and Zoning 
Board of Appeals

Proposal:
The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment would remove any Municipal 
Code requirements for the starting time of public meetings before the 
Architectural Review Board and Zoning Board of Appeals.

Background:
Only two Boards/Commissions in the City have their start time 
established by Municipal Code. Those Boards and Commissions may 
find that those start times are not appropriate and may want to establish 
their own start times as the need arises.
The Architectural Review Board (ARB) and the Zoning Board of Appeals 
(ZBA) have their start times established by the Municipal Code as 
outlined in Chapters 151.173 and 151.190. No other Boards or 
Commissions have their meeting start times regulated by the Municipal 
Code.

Discussion:
It would seem inconsistent that only two Boards or Commissions have their 
start times regulated by the Municipal Code. Other boards, including the 
City Council are not bound by such restrictions. At different times, each 
board or commission may want to adjust their start times to accommodate 
its members, staff or the public as appropriate.

Recommendation:
Open and hold a Public Hearing and recommend the removal of the
Municipal Code sections that establishe a start time for the Architectural 
Review Board and Zoning Board of Appeals meetings.

24



25



ORDINANCE NO.: 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE “CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, 
SOUTH CAROLINA”, BY AMENDING TITLE XV – LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER “ZONING 
BOARD OF APPEALS SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS”, AND SUBCHAPTER 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD SECTION 151.190(F)(6) MEETINGS” BY REMOVING ANY 
REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR THEIR RESPECTIVE MEETINGS

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Goose Creek held a public hearing on June 8, 2021, 
to receive public comment and to consider a change in the Municipal Code removing references to 
meeting start times for the Zoning Board of Appeals and the Architectural Review Board, and;

WHEREAS, the City Council of Goose Creek desires to allow individual boards and 
commissions to establish their own start times as may be necessary to accommodate the public,
and;

WHEREAS, the current zoning subchapters specifically require that the Zoning Board of 
Appeals (ZBA) and Architectural Review Board (ARB) meet at 6:30 pm, and;

WHEREAS, the City Council of Goose Creek wants to remove inconsistent elements in the 
Code.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, that the Code of Ordinances of the City of Goose Creek, South 
Carolina, is hereby amended to remove mandated start times for meetings for any board or 
commission.

  
All ordinances and provisions in conflict herewith are repealed, and if any sentence, clause, 

phrase, or word contained herein shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of 
the remainder of this ordinance.

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 

INTRODUCED the 8th day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

26



§ 151.173 ORGANIZATION, MEETINGS AND RULES OF PROCEDURE.

   (A)   Organization.

      (1)   Rules. The rules of procedures are adopted pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-790.

      (2)   Officers. The officers of the ZBA shall be a Chairperson and a Vice-
Chairperson elected for a one year term before the end of each calendar year. The ZBA 
shall appoint a member of the staff of the City as Secretary (non-voting member) of the 
ZBA.

      (3)   Chairperson. The Chairperson shall be a voting member of the ZBA and shall 
have the following duties:

         (a)   Call meetings of the ZBA;

         (b)   Preside at meetings and hearings, and swear in witnesses;

         (c)   Act as spokesperson for the ZBA;

         (d)   Sign documents for the ZBA;

         (e)   Have orders of the ZBA served on parties, and in case of contempt may 
certify the fact to the Circuit Court having jurisdiction; and

         (f)   Perform other duties approved by the ZBA.

      (4)   Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall exercise the duties of the 
Chairperson in the absence, disability or disqualification of the Chairperson. In the 
absence of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson, the acting Chairperson shall be 
elected by the members present.

      (5)   Secretary. The duties of the Secretary shall be as follows:

         (a)   Provide and publish notice of appeals and meetings;

         (b)   Assist the Chairperson in preparation of agenda;

         (c)   Keep recordings and minutes of meetings and hearings showing the vote of 
each member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating that fact;

         (d)   See that property involved in appeals and variances or special exceptions is 
properly posted;

         (e)   Keep records of ZBA examinations and other official actions;

         (f)   Maintain ZBA records as public records;

         (g)   Serve ZBA decisions on parties;

         (h)   Attend to ZBA correspondences; and

         (i)   Perform other duties normally carried out by a Secretary.

   (B)   Meetings.

27



      (1)   Time and place. All scheduled meetings shall be open to the public and
conducted in accordance with state law. Parties in interest may appear personally or by 
agent. ZBA meetings shall be held at 6:30 p.m. at the Marguerite Brown Municipal 
Center, 519 North Goose Creek Boulevard, unless otherwise announced. Special 
meetings may be held on the call of the Chairperson upon 24 hours’ notice, at the other 
times as the ZBA may determine, posted and delivered to all members and the local 
news media, and designate the time and place of its meetings.

28



ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD
§ 151.190 ORGANIZATION.

   The Architectural Review Board shall organize itself as follows:

   (A)   Creation. There is hereby created an Architectural Review Board (hereinafter 
referred to as the “ARB”) to be composed of seven members appointed by the Mayor 
and City Council (hereinafter referred to as “the Council”), City of Goose Creek. The 
Council will consider for appointment to the ARB only those persons who reside in the 
city and have demonstrated their civic interest, general knowledge of the city, 
independent judgment and availability to prepare for and attend meetings. Members 
shall also have a demonstrated interest in, and/or competence and knowledge of, 
architecture, landscape architecture and urban design. It is the intent of City Council 
that members shall, by reason of diversity in their individual occupations, constitute an 
ARB which is broadly representative of the Community.

   (B)   Terms of office. The members of the ARB shall be identified by place numbers 
one through seven. The four odd-numbered places shall expire on December 31, of 
each odd-numbered year, with the three even-numbered to expire on December 31, of 
each even-numbered year. Vacancies shall be filled for unexpired terms. ARB members 
may be appointed to succeed themselves. All terms shall be for two years, except those 
initially appointed to the ARB whose terms expire on December 31, of the first odd or 
even numbered year as stated above. Newly appointed members shall be installed at 
the first regularly scheduled ARB meeting after their appointment. No member shall be 
the holder of an elected public office in the city while serving on the ARB.

   (C)   Vacancy. A vacancy in a term of office shall occur whenever Council finds that a 
member has resigned, not maintained required qualifications, has not attended properly 
called meetings without just cause or has been found guilty of malfeasance or 
misconduct in office.

   (D)   Intent and purposes. The intent and purposes of the ARB are as follows:

      (1)   To protect and provide for the unique, special and desired character of the 
Commercial and Light Industrial Districts and uses inside the City of Goose Creek, in 
terms of positive visual and aesthetic appearances of these districts and uses including 
their respective roadways;

      (2)   The above intent and purpose can be achieved through positive site design, 
superior architectural standards, attractive street scape improvements, adequate 
provision of landscape elements and harmonious combinations of signage along both 
sides of the roadways and street scales of the City of Goose Creek;

      (3)   To discourage piecemeal development and create unity along the Commercial 
and Light Industrial Districts and uses of the city;

      (4)   To foster civic beauty;

29



      (5)   To encourage designs which produce a desirable relationship between 
individual buildings, the circulation system and adjacent areas and to permit a flexible, 
high quality response of development to a variety of land uses and activities;

      (6)   To assure respect for the character, integrity and quality of the built and natural 
environments of the city; and

      (7)   It is not the intent of the city to stifle innovative architecture.

   (E)   Duties and powers. All new developments proposed within the Commercial and 
Light Industrial Districts and uses of the city shall be subject to the procedures, 
standards and guidelines specified in the following sections, in addition to those 
standards pertaining to the particular zoning district in which the development occurs. 
This will be accomplished through evaluation of proposed developments by the ARB 
which shall review the character, and appearance of the proposed developments in a 
positive manner. It is the purpose of the review to determine, in a cooperative fashion 
with the developer (hereinafter referred to as the “applicant”), whether the proposed 
plan meets the guidelines and other standards as specified.

      (1)   Criteria for modifications; changes to be reviewed by the ARB. If any of the 
criteria below applies, ARB approval is required:

         (a)   Modifications and/or changes in excess of 10% of the property value of a 
parcel of property shall be reviewed by the ARB, but this shall be 50% for structures that 
predate the existence of the Architectural Review Design Ordinance adopted April 20, 
1993;

         (b)   Substantial architectural change in the structure(s);

         (c)   All color changes;

         (d)   All changes in signs; and

         (e)   Change in appearance of structure(s).

      (2)   Annual report. The ARB shall submit an annual report to Council each year, 
summarizing its activities and achievements. The report shall include the identity of ARB 
members and their respective meeting attendance record.

   (F)   Organization and rules of procedures.

      (1)   Rules. The rules of procedures are adopted pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-790.

      (2)   Officers. The officers of the ARB shall be a Chairperson and a Vice-
Chairperson elected for one-year term before the end of each calendar year. The ARB 
shall appoint a member of the staff of the city as Secretary (non-voting member) of the 
ARB.

      (3)   Chairperson. The Chairperson shall be a voting member of the ARB and shall 
have the following duties:

         (a)   Call meetings of the ARB;

30



         (b)   Presides at meetings and hearings, and swear in witnesses;

         (c)   Act as spokesperson for the ARB;

         (d)   Sign documents for the ARB;

         (e)   Have order of the ARB served on parties, and in case of contempt, may 
certify the fact to the circuit court having jurisdiction; and

         (f)   Perform other duties approved by the ARB.

      (4)   Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall exercise the duties of the 
Chairperson in the absence, disability or disqualification of the Chairperson. In the 
absence of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson, the acting Chairperson shall be 
elected by the members present.

      (5)   Secretary. The duties of the Secretary shall be as follows:

         (a)   Provide and publish notice of appeals and meetings;

         (b)   Assist the Chairperson in preparation of agenda;

         (c)   Keep recordings and minutes of meetings and hearings, showing the vote of 
each member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating that fact;

         (d)   Keep records of ARB examinations and other official actions;

         (e)   Maintain ARB records as public records;

         (f)   Attend to ARB correspondences; and

         (g)   Perform other duties normally carried out by a Secretary.

      (6)   Meetings.

         (a)   Time and place. All regularly scheduled meetings shall be open to the public, 
and conducted in accordance with state law. Parties in interest may appear personally 
or by agent. Regular meetings shall be held each month on the third Monday, 
at 6:30 p.m. at the Marguerite Brown Municipal Center, 519 North Goose Creek 
Boulevard, unless otherwise announced. Special meetings may be held on the call of 
the Chairperson upon 24 hours notice, at other times as the ARB may determine, 
posted and delivered to all members and the local news media, and designate the time 
and place of its meetings. Deadlines for ARB meetings occur at least 14 days prior to 
meeting dates. An annual schedule of regular meetings shall be adopted, published and 
posted at City Hall in December of each year.

31



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Brian Cook, Asst. City Administrator

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY REPEALING IN ITS
ENTIRETY THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES AND REPLACING IT WITH A
NEW CHAPTER 152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES - (Second and
Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
The S.C. General Assembly by Act 179 of 2020, referred to as the South Carolina Small Wireless
Facilities Deployment Act, established terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees upon which
Small Wireless Facilities may be deployed in the right of way. The new version MASC model
ordinance is proposed. 

Financial Impact
Minimal

Impact if denied
Not fully in compliance with the South Carolina Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act

Impact if approved
In compliance with the South Carolina Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act

 

32



1

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY 
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES 
AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW CHAPTER 152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL 
WIRELESS FACILITIES

WHEREAS, the City of Goose Creek (the “Municipality”) encourages wireless infrastructure 
investment and wishes to provide a fair and predictable process for the deployment of Small 
Wireless Facilities (as defined herein) while managing the right of way in a manner that promotes 
the interests of the public health, safety, and welfare;

WHEREAS, the Municipality recognizes that Small Wireless Facilities, including facilities 
commonly referred to as small cell and distributed antenna systems, are critical to delivering 
wireless access to advanced technology, broadband, and 9-1-1 services to residences, businesses, 
and schools within the Municipality;

WHEREAS, the Municipality recognizes that Small Wireless Facilities together with high-
capacity transport medium such as fiber optic cabling may be effectively deployed in the right of 
way;

WHEREAS, by Act 179 of 2020, referred to as the South Carolina Small Wireless Facilities 
Deployment Act and codified as S.C. Code §§ 58-11-800 et seq. (the “SWF Act”), the South Carolina 
General Assembly has established the terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees upon which 
Small Wireless Facilities may be deployed in the right of way;

WHEREAS, the Municipality has previously enacted Ordinance No. 18-014 on July 10, 2018
(the “Prior SWF Ordinance”), which established the terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees 
that shall apply to the deployment of Small Wireless Facilities in the right of way;

WHEREAS, in order to ensure that the Municipality is in compliance with the SWF Act, the 
Municipality hereby repeals the Prior SWF Ordinance and replaces it, in its entirety and effective 
immediately, with the text set forth below;

WHEREAS, this Ordinance is intended to grant municipal consent to use of the right of way
and establish a standard application process to streamline the issuance of necessary permits in a 
manner that is not a barrier to competition, and does not unnecessarily delay the implementation 
and installation of Small Wireless Facilities;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, that Title XV of the Municipality’s Code of Ordinances is 
hereby amended by repealing in its entirety the current Chapter 152 and by replacing it to add a new 
Chapter 152 entitled “Standards for Placement of Small Wireless Facilities,” to read as follows:

Section 1. Definitions.

“Antenna” means (a) communications equipment that transmits or receives electromagnetic radio 
frequency signals used in the provision of Wireless Services; and (b) similar equipment used for the 
transmission or reception of surface waves.

“Applicable Codes” means uniform building, fire, electrical, plumbing, or mechanical codes adopted 
by a recognized national code organization, or local amendments to those codes that are of general 
application, address public safety, and are consistent with this Ordinance.

“Applicant” means any Person who submits an Application.

“Application” means a request submitted by an Applicant for a Permit to (i) Collocate Small Wireless 
Facilities; or (ii) install, modify, or replace a Pole.

“Collocate” means to install, mount, maintain, modify, operate, or replace Small Wireless Facilities 
on or adjacent to a Pole or Support Structure. “Collocation” has a corresponding meaning.

“Communications Facility' means the set of equipment and network components, including wires, 
cables, surface wave couplers, and associated facilities used by a cable operator, as defined in 47 

33



2

U.S.C. Section 522(5); a provider of “video service” as defined in S.C. Code § 58-12-300(10); a 
telecommunications carrier, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(51); a provider of information 
service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24); or a Wireless Services Provider to provide 
Communications Services, including cable service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 522(6); 
telecommunications service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(53); an information service, as 
defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24); Wireless Services; surface wave communication; or other one-
way or two-way communications service.

“Communications Network” means a network used to provide Communications Service.

“Communications Service” means cable service as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 522(6), information 
service as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24), telecommunications service as defined in 47 U.S.C. 
Section 153(53), or Wireless Services.

“Communications Service Provider” means a cable operator, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 522(5); 
a provider of information service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24); a telecommunications 
carrier, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(51); or a Wireless Provider.

“Day” means a calendar day unless the last day for the Municipality or an Applicant to take action 
under this Ordinance ends on a weekend, holiday, or time when all, but Municipality emergency 
services are closed due to weather or some unforeseen situation.

“Decorative Pole” means a Pole, including a Municipality Pole, that is specially designed and placed 
for aesthetic purposes and on which no appurtenances or attachments (other than a Small Wireless 
Facility, public safety devices, or specially designed informational or directional signage or 
temporary holiday or special event attachments) have been placed or are permitted to be placed 
according to nondiscriminatory rules or codes.

“Design District” means a discrete area within the jurisdiction of the Municipality for which the 
Municipality maintains and enforces unique design and aesthetic standards on a uniform and 
nondiscriminatory basis among all occupants of the ROW, on the grounds that the characteristics of 
the discrete area warrant design and aesthetic standards that differ from those that apply to the 
majority of the areas within the jurisdiction of the Municipality. [The Design Districts in existence or 
otherwise established as of the date hereof are set forth in Exhibit A hereto.]

“Design Manual” means a manual or guidebook that sets forth additional aesthetic, design, 
concealment, and stealth requirements applicable to Small Wireless Facilities. The Design Manual 
may also, but need not, set forth examples of Small Wireless Facility deployments that the 
Municipality deems to comply with this Ordinance. [The initial form of the Design Manual is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B.]

“Eligible Facilities Request” means a request for modification of an existing tower or base station 
(as those terms are defined in 45 CFR §1.6100(b)) that does not involve a substantial change in the 
physical dimensions of such tower or base station and that involves Collocation of new transmission 
equipment, removal of transmission equipment, or replacement of transmission equipment.

“Fee” means a one-time, non-recurring charge.

“Historic District" means a group of buildings, properties, or sites that is either:

(a) listed in the National Register of Historic Places or formally determined 
eligible for listing by the Keeper of the National Register, the individual who has been 
delegated the authority by the federal agency to list properties and determine their 
eligibility for the National Register, in accordance with Section VI.D.1.a.i v of the Nationwide 
Programmatic Agreement codified at 47 C.F.R. Part 1, Appendix C; or

(b) a registered historic district pursuant to State law at the time the 
Application is submitted; or

(c) an “overlay zone,” as defined in and limited by the South Carolina 
Comprehensive Planning Act, (1) that has been established by the Municipality at least sixty 
days prior to the relevant Application; (2) for which the special public interest to be 
protected is the preservation and protection of historic and architecturally valuable districts 
and neighborhoods or archaeologically significant resources according to uniform design 
standards; and (3) for which the Municipality maintains and enforces objective standards 
that are published in advance and applied on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis.

34



3

“Micro Wireless Facility” means a Small Wireless Facility that (a) is not larger in dimension than 
twenty-four inches in length, fifteen inches in width, and twelve inches in height; and (b) for which 
no exterior antenna is longer than eleven inches.

“Municipality Pole” means a Pole owned, managed, or operated by or on behalf of the Municipality; 
provided, however, that such term shall not include any Pole, Support Structure, electric 
transmission structure, or equipment of any type that is part of a municipally owned or municipally 
controlled electric plant or system for furnishing of electricity to the public for compensation. The 
term Municipality Pole shall include, without limitation, Poles that the Municipality leases, rents, 
licenses, or otherwise compensates the owner thereof for the provision of street lighting.

“Permit” means a written authorization, in electronic or hard copy format, required to be issued by 
the Municipality to initiate, continue, or complete the Collocation of a Small Wireless Facility or the 
installation, modification, or replacement of a Pole upon which a Small Wireless Facility is to be 
Collocated.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust, 
or other entity or organization, including the Municipality.

“Pole” means a vertical pole such as a utility, lighting, traffic, or similar pole made of wood, concrete, 
metal, or other material that is lawfully located or to be located within the ROW including, but not 
limited to, a replacement Pole and a Municipality Pole.  A Pole shall not include a support structure 
or electric transmission structure.

“Rate” means a recurring charge.

“Right of Way” or “ROW” means the area through, upon, over, or under a road, highway, street, 
sidewalk, alley, or similar property provided; however, that such term shall apply only to property or 
any interest therein that is under the ownership or control of the Municipality and shall not include 
property or any interest therein acquired for or devoted to a federal interstate highway. For 
purposes of this definition, the Municipality shall be deemed to have “control” of property and 
interests thereon owned by the State and/or the South Carolina Department of Transportation to 
the extent that such property and interests are within the territorial jurisdiction of the Municipality.

“Small Wireless Facility” means radio transceivers; surface wave couplers; Antennas; coaxial or 
fiber optic cable located on a Pole or Support Structure, immediately adjacent to a Pole or Support 
Structure, or directly associated with equipment located on a Pole or Support Structure and within 
a one hundred-foot radius of the Pole or Support Structure; regular and backup power supplies and 
rectifiers; and associated ancillary equipment, regardless of technological configuration, at a fixed 
location or fixed locations that enable communication or surface wave communication between 
user equipment and a Communications Network and that meets both of the following qualifications:

(a) each Wireless Provider’s Antenna could fit within an enclosure of no more 
than six cubic feet in volume; and

(b) all other wireless equipment associated with the Small Wireless Facility, 
whether ground- or pole-mounted, is cumulatively no more than twenty-eight cubic feet in 
volume. The following types of associated ancillary equipment are not included in the 
calculation of the volume of all other wireless equipment associated with any such facility: 
electric meters, concealment elements, network interface devices, grounding equipment, 
power transfer switches, cut-off switches, and vertical cable runs for the connection of 
power and other services.

The term “Small Wireless Facility” does not include: the Pole, Support Structure, or improvements 
on, under, or within which the equipment is located or Collocated or to which the equipment is 
attached; Wireline Backhaul Facilities; or coaxial or fiber optic cable that is between Small Wireless 
Facilities, Poles, or Support Structures or that is otherwise not immediately adjacent to or directly 
associated with a particular Antenna. For purposes of this definition, in order to be considered 
directly associated with equipment located on a Pole or Support Structure, coaxial or fiber optic 
cable must not extend more than one hundred feet in radial circumference from the base of the Pole 
or Support Structure to which the Antenna is attached. No portion of a Small Wireless Facility may 
be used as a Wireline Backhaul Facility.

“State” means the State of South Carolina.

“Supplemental Review Districts” means Design Districts, Historic Districts, and Underground 
Districts.

35



4

“Support Structure” means a building, billboard, or any other structure in the ROW to which a Small 
Wireless Facility is or may be attached. A “Support Structure” shall not include an electric 
transmission structure or pole.

“Technically Feasible” means that by virtue of engineering or spectrum usage, the proposed 
placement for a Small Wireless Facility or its design, concealment measures, or site location can be 
implemented without a material reduction in the functionality of the Small Wireless Facility.

“Underground District” means a group of buildings, properties, or sites in which the Municipality, at 
least sixty days prior to the relevant Application, has required all communications and electric lines 
in the specified geographic area to be placed underground, and for which the Municipality maintains 
and enforces objective standards that are published in advance and applied on a uniform and 
nondiscriminatory basis. [The Underground Districts in existence or otherwise established as of the 
date hereof are set forth in Exhibit A hereto.]

“Wireless Infrastructure Provider” means any Person, including a Person authorized to provide 
telecommunications service in the State, acting to build or install wireless communication 
transmission equipment, Small Wireless Facilities, or Support Structures, but that is not a Wireless 
Services Provider.

“Wireless Provider” means a Wireless Infrastructure Provider or a Wireless Services Provider.

“Wireless Services” means any services using licensed or unlicensed spectrum, including the use of 
Wi-Fi, whether at a fixed location or mobile, provided to the public.

“Wireless Services Provider” means a Person who provides Wireless Services.

“Wireline Backhaul Facility” means an above-ground or underground wireline facility used to 
transport communications between a small wireless facility network interface device and a network 
or another small wireless network interface device.

Section 2. Purpose and Scope; General Provisions.

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this Ordinance is to provide policies and procedures for the 
placement of Small Wireless Facilities in ROWs within the jurisdiction of the Municipality.

(b) Scope and Intent. It is the intent of this Ordinance to establish uniform standards 
applicable to the application for and deployment of Small Wireless Facilities in a manner that serves 
the interests of the Municipality, its citizens, and the general public by advancing the following 
purposes:

(1) Prevention of interference with the use of streets, sidewalks, alleys, 
parkways, traffic light poles or other light poles, and other public ways and places; 

(2) Prevention of visual and physical obstructions and other conditions that are 
hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic; 

(3) Prevention of interference with other facilities and operations of facilities 
lawfully located in the ROWs or public property; 

(4) Preservation of the character of neighborhoods where facilities are 
installed; 

(5) Preservation of the character of and applicable land use requirements 
within Design Districts, Historic Districts, and Underground Districts; and

(6) Facilitation of the rapid deployment of Small Wireless Facilities to provide 
the citizens with the benefits of advanced Wireless Services.

(c) Applicable only to Small Wireless Facilities. Nothing in this Ordinance limits the 
Municipality’s powers with respect to wireless facilities that are not Small Wireless Facilities in the 
ROW, or Poles that are used for purposes other than installation of Small Wireless Facilities in the 
ROW.

(d) Right to Prevent Interference. The Municipality retains the right to require that all 
Small Wireless Facilities shall be operated and maintained in a manner that does not interfere with 
public safety (police, traffic control, fire, and emergency services) equipment.

(e) Imminent Risk to Public Safety. If the Municipality determines that a Wireless 
Provider’s activity in the ROW pursuant to this Ordinance creates an imminent risk to public safety, 

36



5

the Municipality may provide written notice to the Wireless Provider and demand that the Wireless 
Provider address such risk. If the Wireless Provider fails to reasonably address the risk within twenty-
four hours of the written notice, the Municipality may take or cause to be taken action to reasonably 
address such risk and charge the Wireless Provider the reasonable documented cost of such actions.

Section 3. Permitted Use; Application Process and Fees.

(a) Permitted Use and Consent. A Wireless Provider shall have the right, as a permitted 
use subject to review and conditions as set forth herein, to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities and 
install, maintain, modify, operate, and replace Poles in the ROW. These structures and facilities must 
be installed and maintained so as not to create a safety hazard; obstruct or hinder the usual travel in 
or the public’s safe use of the ROW; or obstruct the legal use of the ROW by utilities. In accordance
with Article VIII, Section 15 of the State Constitution and related municipal code and ordinance 
provisions, the Municipality consents to the use of the ROW by Permit holders acting in compliance 
with this Ordinance.

(b) Permit Required.

(1) No Person shall Collocate a Small Wireless Facility or install a new, modified, 
or replacement Pole or Support Structure associated with a Small Wireless Facility without 
first filing a Small Wireless Facility Application and obtaining a Permit as set forth herein. 
The Municipality may require an Applicant to obtain additional permits for such activity, 
provided that such additional permits are of general applicability and do not apply 
exclusively to Small Wireless Facilities. An Applicant shall not be required to obtain or pay 
any fees for a building permit, as the Permit issued pursuant to this Ordinance serves as a 
building permit for the applicable Poles and Small Wireless Facilities. Any applications for 
any such additional permits, once submitted, must be acted upon within the same number 
of days as an Application for a Permit under this Ordinance. The Municipality shall publish 
and keep current a list of each additional permit that is required for the Collocation of a Small 
Wireless Facility or the installation of a new, modified, or replacement Pole. Any failure to 
comply with this subsection by a Wireless Provider shall allow the Municipality, in its sole 
discretion, to restore the ROW to its condition prior to the unpermitted Collocation or 
installation and to charge the responsible Wireless Provider its reasonable, documented 
cost of restoration, plus a penalty not to exceed one thousand dollars ($1,000). The 
Municipality may suspend the ability of the Wireless Provider to receive any new Permits 
from the Municipality until the Wireless Provider has paid the amount assessed for such 
restoration costs; provided, however, that the Municipality shall not suspend such ability of 
any Applicant that has deposited the amount in controversy in escrow pending an 
adjudication of the merits.

(2) For deployments in ROWs under the ownership or control of the South 
Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”), a Wireless Provider may, in lieu of filing 
a formal Application hereunder, request that the Municipality evidence its approval of the 
proposed deployment by consenting in writing to the Wireless Provider’s application for a 
SCDOT encroachment permit. If the Municipality consents in writing to the issuance of an 
SCDOT encroachment permit, it shall concurrently therewith issue a Permit consistent with 
such consent. In all cases, the Municipality’s consent may be conditioned on compliance 
with the Municipality’s lawful and applicable design, aesthetic, stealth, and concealment 
standards, and subject to the foregoing, the Municipality will not unreasonably withhold or 
delay its written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Wireless Provider shall retain 
the right to file a formal Application for a Permit hereunder, in which case the terms, 
conditions, and requirements of this Ordinance shall apply in full to such Application.

(c) Permit Applications. All Applications filed pursuant to this Ordinance shall be on a 
form, paper or electronic, as required by the Municipality. The Applicant may designate portions of 
its Application materials that it reasonably believes contain proprietary or confidential information 
as “proprietary” or “confidential” by clearly marking each page of such materials accordingly, and 
the Municipality shall endeavor to protect materials so designated from public disclosure to the 
fullest extent permitted by State law. 

(d) Application Requirements. The Application shall be made by the Applicant, or its 
duly authorized representative as noted in a notarized statement from the Applicant, and shall 
contain the following:

(1) the Applicant’s name, address, telephone number, and email address, 
including emergency contact information for the Applicant;

37



6

(2) the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and email addresses of all 
consultants, if any, acting on behalf of the Applicant with respect to the filing of the 
Application; 

(3) a general description of the proposed work and the purposes and intent of 
the proposed facility. The scope and detail of such description shall be appropriate to the 
nature and character of the physical work to be performed, with special emphasis on those 
matters likely to be affected or impacted by the physical work proposed; 

(4) detailed construction drawings regarding the proposed use of the ROW;

(5) to the extent the proposed facility involves Collocation on a Pole, 
Decorative Pole, or Support Structure, a structural report performed by a duly licensed 
engineer in South Carolina evidencing that the Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure 
will structurally support the Collocation, or that the Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support 
Structure may and will be modified to meet structural requirements, in accordance with 
Applicable Codes;

(6) for any new aboveground facilities, visual depictions, or representations if 
such are not included in the construction drawings; 

(7) information indicating the approximate horizontal and vertical locations, 
relative to the boundaries of the ROW, of the Small Wireless Facility for which the 
Application is being submitted; 

(8) if the Application is for the installation of a new Pole or replacement of a 
Decorative Pole, a certification that the Wireless Provider has determined after diligent 
investigation that it cannot meet the service objectives of the Application by Collocating on 
an existing Pole or Support Structure on which:

(A) the Wireless Provider has the right to Collocate subject to 
reasonable terms and conditions; and

(B) such Collocation would be Technically Feasible and would not 
impose significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has 
made such a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer 
licensed in South Carolina, and shall provide a written summary of the basis for such 
determination;

(9) if the Small Wireless Facility will be Collocated on a Pole or Support 
Structure owned by a third party, other than a Municipality Pole, a certification that the 
Wireless Provider has permission from the owner to Collocate on the Pole or Support 
Structure;

(10) an affirmation that the Applicant is, on the same date, submitting 
applications for the permits identified in the list the Municipality maintains pursuant to 
Section 3(b) of this Ordinance;

(11) any additional information reasonably necessary to demonstrate 
compliance with the criteria set forth in Section 4(f) of this Ordinance; and

(12) for any Applicant that is not a Wireless Services Provider, an attestation that 
a Wireless Services Provider has requested in writing that the Applicant Collocate the Small 
Wireless Facilities or install, modify, or replace the Pole at the requested location.

(e) Routine Maintenance and Replacement. An Application shall not be required for:
(1) routine maintenance; (2) the replacement of Small Wireless Facilities with Small Wireless 
Facilities that are substantially similar or the same size or smaller; or (3) the installation, placement, 
maintenance, operation, or replacement of Micro Wireless Facilities that are suspended on cables 
that are suspended between Poles or Support Structures in compliance with Applicable Codes by a 
Wireless Provider that is authorized to occupy the ROW and that is remitting a consent, franchise, 
or administrative fee pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-9-2230. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Municipality may require that prior to performing any activity described above, an Applicant must 
apply for and receive a permit for work that requires excavation or closure of sidewalks or vehicular 
lanes within the ROW for such activity. Such a permit must be issued to the Applicant on a 
nondiscriminatory basis upon terms and conditions that are consistent with Applicable Codes and 
that apply to the activities of any other Person in the ROW that require excavation or the closing of 
sidewalks or vehicular lanes.

38



7

(f) Information Updates. Any amendment to information contained in an Application 
shall be submitted in writing to the Municipality within ten (10) business days after the change 
necessitating the amendment. 

(g) Consolidated Application. An Applicant seeking to Collocate Small Wireless 
Facilities may submit a single consolidated Application, provided that such a consolidated 
Application shall be for a geographic area no more than two miles in diameter and for no more than
thirty Small Wireless Facilities. In such case, the Applicant may receive a single Permit for the
Collocation of multiple Small Wireless Facilities. The denial of one or more Small Wireless Facilities 
in a consolidated Application must not delay processing of any other Small Wireless Facilities in the 
same consolidated Application. Solely for purposes of calculating the number of Small Wireless 
Facilities in a consolidated Application, a Small Wireless Facility includes any Pole on which such 
Small Wireless Facility will be Collocated.

(h) Application Fees. The Municipality hereby determines that the following Fees for 
Applications are reasonable and nondiscriminatory and do not recover more than the Municipality’s 
direct costs for processing an Application. For each Application, the Municipality hereby imposes 
Fees as follows:

(1) for Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on existing Poles or 
Support Structures, one hundred dollars ($100) each for the first five Small Wireless 
Facilities in the same Application and fifty dollars ($50) for each additional Small Wireless 
Facility in the same Application;

(2) for Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on new Poles, one 
thousand dollars ($1,000) for each Pole, which Fee covers both the installation of the new 
Pole and the Collocation on the new Pole of associated Small Wireless Facilities; and 

(3) for Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on modified or 
replacement Poles, two hundred fifty dollars ($250) for each Pole, which Fee covers both the 
modification or replacement of the Pole and the Collocation on the Pole of associated Small 
Wireless Facilities.

The Application Fee shall apply to a Wireless Provider regardless of whether the Wireless Provider 
is subject to a business license tax that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S.C. Code Section 
58-9-2220 or a franchise, consent, or administrative fee that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant 
to S.C. Code Section 58-9-2230. The Application Fee shall apply to a Communications Service 
Provider regardless of whether the Communications Service Provider is subject to a franchise fee 
that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S.C. Code Section 58-12-330.

(i) Consultant Fees. To the extent that the Municipality engages one or more 
consultants to assist in review of Applications, the Municipality shall impose a Fee for such 
Applications to the extent permitted by, and calculated in accordance with, S.C. Code Section 58-
11-850(D)(4).

Section 4. Action on Permit Application.

(a) Notice of Incompleteness. Within ten days of receiving an Application, the 
Municipality must determine and notify the Applicant in writing whether the Application is 
complete. If an Application is incomplete, the Municipality shall specifically identify the missing 
information in writing. The processing deadline set forth in Section 4(b) below is tolled from the time 
the Municipality sends the notice of incompleteness to the time the Applicant provides the missing 
information. The processing deadline also may be tolled by agreement of the Applicant and the 
Municipality, confirmed in writing. 

(b) Time Requirements for Review of Applications. An Application must be processed 
on a nondiscriminatory basis. The following shall apply to all Applications except those for Eligible 
Facilities Requests, which are addressed below in Section 4(c). The Municipality shall make its final 
decision to approve or deny the Application within sixty (60) days of receipt of a complete 
Application for Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities and within ninety (90) days of receipt of a 
complete Application for the installation, modification, or replacement of a Pole and the Collocation 
of associated Small Wireless Facilities on the installed, modified, or replaced Pole. If the Municipality 
fails to act on an Application within the applicable time period, the Applicant may provide the 
Municipality written notice that the time period for acting has lapsed. The Municipality shall then 
have twenty (20) days after receipt of such notice to render its written decision. The Application shall 
be deemed to have been approved by passage of time and operation of law if the Municipality does 
not render its written decision within the noticed twenty (20) days. If applicable federal or State law 
establishes a shorter period or different requirements for action, the Municipality shall comply with 

39



8

such applicable law, but the remedy for non-compliance shall be limited to the remedy established 
by that applicable law.

(c) Eligible Facilities Requests.  If the Application is an Eligible Facilities Request, the 
Municipality shall approve the Application within 60 days of receipt of the Application, subject to 
tolling after notification of an incomplete application until the date when the Applicant submits all 
the documents and information identified in the notice of incompleteness. Any approval shall be 
operative, and any Permit issued pursuant to this subsection shall remain in effect, only for so long 
as federal law (47 U.S.C. § 1455) and implementing Federal Communications Commission 
regulations (47 C.F.R. §1.40001) provide for special approval of an Eligible Facilities Request. In 
approving an Eligible Facilities Request hereunder, the Municipality intends only to comply with the
requirements of federal law and not to grant any property rights, interests, or consents except as 
compelled by federal law.

(d) Notice in Writing Required. The Municipality shall notify the Applicant in writing of 
its final decision. If the Application is denied, the Municipality shall specify the basis for a denial, 
including citations to federal, State, or local code provisions and/or statutes on which the denial was 
based.

(e) Right to Cure. The Applicant may cure the deficiencies identified by the Municipality 
and resubmit the Application within thirty (30) days of the denial without paying an additional 
Application Fee. The Municipality shall approve or deny the revised Application within thirty (30) 
days of resubmission and limit its review to the deficiencies cited in the denial. If the Municipality 
fails to act on a revised Application within this thirty-day period, the Applicant may provide the 
Municipality written notice that the time period for acting has lapsed, and the Municipality shall then 
have five (5) days after receipt of such notice to render its written decision approving or denying the 
revised Application. The revised Application shall be deemed to have been approved by passage of 
time and operation of law if the Municipality does not render its written decision within the noticed 
five (5) days.

(f) Permissible Bases for Denial. The Municipality may deny an Applicant’s proposed 
Collocation of a Small Wireless Facility or a proposed installation, modification, or replacement of a 
Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure only if the proposed Collocation, installation, 
modification, or replacement: 

(1) interferes with the safe operation of traffic control or public safety 
equipment; 

(2) interferes with sight lines or clear zones for transportation or pedestrians;

(3) interferes with compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act or 
similar federal or State standards regarding pedestrian access or movement; 

(4) requests that ground-mounted Small Wireless Facility equipment be 
located more than seven and one-half feet in radial circumference from the base of the Pole, 
Decorative Pole, or Support Structure to which the Antenna is to be attached, provided that 
the Municipality shall not deny the Application if a greater distance from the base of the 
Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure is necessary to avoid interfering with sight lines 
or clear zones for transportation or pedestrians or to otherwise protect public safety;

(5) fails to comply with the height limitations permitted by this Ordinance or (if 
applicable) in the Design Manual, or with reasonable and nondiscriminatory horizontal 
spacing requirements of general application adopted by an enactment that concern the 
location of ground-mounted equipment and new Poles;

(6) designates the location of a new Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure
for the purpose of Collocating a Small Wireless Facility within seven feet in any direction of 
an electrical conductor, unless the Wireless Provider obtains the written consent of the 
power supplier that owns or manages the electrical conductor;

(7) fails to comply with Applicable Codes; 

(8) fails to comply with the requirements applicable to the aesthetic, stealth, 
and concealment requirements contained in this Ordinance, with the requirements 
applicable to Supplemental Review Districts, or (if applicable) with the Design Manual;

(9) fails to comply with laws of general applicability that address pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic and safety requirements; or 

40



9

(10) fails to comply with laws of general applicability that address the occupancy 
or management of the ROW and that are not otherwise inconsistent with this article.

(g) Requirement to Replace or Upgrade. The Municipality may not require a Wireless 
Provider to replace or upgrade an existing Pole except for reasons of structural necessity, 
compliance with Applicable Codes, or compliance with this Ordinance (including, if applicable, the 
Design Manual). A Wireless Provider may, with the permission of the Pole owner, replace or modify 
existing Poles, but any such replacement or modification must be consistent with the design 
aesthetics of the Poles being modified or replaced.

(h) Compensation. Subject to the limitations set forth herein, every Permit shall include 
as a condition the Applicant’s agreement to pay such lawful franchise fees, business license taxes, 
administrative fees, and consent fees as are permitted under applicable South Carolina and federal 
law. The Applicant shall also pay all applicable ad valorem taxes, service fees, sales taxes, or other 
taxes and fees as may now or hereafter be lawfully imposed on other businesses within the 
Municipality.

Section 5. Requirements for Small Wireless Facilities; New, Modified, or Replacement Poles; 
Decorative Poles.

(a) Administrative Review. The Municipality shall perform an administrative review of 
Applications including the location or installation of new, modified, or replacement Poles and/or
Support Structures and the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities and equipment on Poles or 
Support Structures. Review factors, in addition to location, shall include the size, shape, color, 
texture, and materials of the structures and attachments. 

(1) The Municipality may require that a proposed Small Wireless Facility or 
new, modified, or replacement Pole be designed to not be significantly more readily 
apparent or plainly visible (to a reasonable person of ordinary sensibilities) than existing 
facilities, structures, equipment, and Poles located within five hundred (500) linear feet on 
the same ROW as the subject Small Wireless Facility, Pole, or Support Structure.

(2) Where Small Wireless Facilities are determined to be appropriate, the use 
of reasonable stealth and concealment treatments, low-profile equipment and control 
boxes, and screening may be required to avoid significant negative impacts on the character 
and visual aesthetics of the area. However, such requirements may be waived by the 
Municipality upon a showing that the particular location of a Small Wireless Facility does not 
warrant stealth or concealment treatments or imposes an excessive expense. The waiver 
shall be granted or denied within forty-five (45) days after the date of the request.

(3) Supplemental Review Districts identified in Section 5(c) [and listed in 
Exhibit A] may be subject to a higher level of review.

(4) The Municipality may maintain a Design Manual which sets forth additional 
aesthetic, design, concealment, and stealth requirements applicable to Small Wireless 
Facilities. The Design Manual may also, but need not, set forth examples of Small Wireless 
Facility deployments that the Municipality deems to comply with this Ordinance and 
provide a means for pre-approval of designs that are suitable for a particular location, even 
if not strictly compliant with the design, placement, and aesthetic requirements of this 
Ordinance provided the design otherwise serves the goals of this Ordinance. [If the 
Municipality initially adopts a Design Manual: The initial form of the Design Manual is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B. The Design Manual may be amended from time to time by 
way of a duly enacted resolution.]

(b) Maximum Size of Permitted Use.

(1) New Small Wireless Facilities (including any related Antenna) in the ROW 
may not extend more than ten feet above an existing Pole in place as of the effective date 
of this Ordinance, or for Small Wireless Facilities (including any related Antenna) on a new 
Pole, above the height permitted for a new Pole pursuant to this section.

(2) Each new, modified, or replacement Pole installed in the ROW may not 
exceed the greater of ten feet in height above the tallest existing Pole in place as of the 
effective date of this Ordinance located within five hundred feet of the new, modified, or 
replacement Pole in the same ROW, or fifty feet above ground level, except in Design 
Districts and Historic Districts where the height limit is forty feet above ground level.

41



10

(3) For Applications to place Poles in residential zoning districts to deploy Small 
Wireless Facilities, the Municipality may propose an alternate location in the ROW within 
one hundred fifty feet of the location set forth in the Application, and the Wireless Provider 
shall use the Municipality’s proposed alternate location unless the location is not Technically 
Feasible or imposes significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it 
has made such a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer 
licensed in South Carolina, and it shall provide a written summary of the basis for such 
determination.

(4) Collocation is not allowed on a Decorative Pole less than twenty feet in 
height.

(5) New Poles are not permitted in a corridor where there are existing Poles 
that can be used, modified, or replaced to allow the proposed Collocation, unless the 
Applicant can demonstrate that (A) it is not Technically Feasible to use, modify, or replace 
such existing Poles; or (B) such use, modification, or replacement would impose significant 
additional costs on the Wireless Provider, as certified by the Wireless Provider in good faith 
and based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South Carolina along with a written 
summary of the basis for the certification; or (C) a new Pole may be placed in a manner that 
will cause no more interference with the ROW and will have no more of an impact on the 
overall appearance of the corridor and on adjoining properties than would the use, 
modification, or replacement of an existing Pole.

(c) Supplemental Review Districts. Collocated Small Wireless Facilitates and new, 
modified, or replacement Poles or Support Structures located in Supplemental Review Districts shall 
be subject to the compliant provisions (as defined in the SWF Act) pertaining to design and aesthetic 
standards in the ordinance establishing the Supplemental Review District(s) in addition to the 
requirements of this Ordinance. In addition, the following rules shall apply within the Supplemental 
Review Districts.

(1) Underground Districts. A Wireless Provider shall comply with reasonable and 
nondiscriminatory requirements that prohibit the installation of Poles in the ROW in an 
Underground District where: (A) no less than sixty days prior to the submission of the 
Application, the Municipality has required all such lines to be placed underground; (B) Poles 
the Municipality allows to remain are made available to Wireless Providers for the 
Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities and may be replaced by a Wireless Provider to 
accommodate the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities in compliance with this 
Ordinance; and (C) a Wireless Provider is allowed to install a new Pole when it is not able to 
provide Wireless Services by Collocating on a remaining Pole or Support Structure. Nothing 
in this section shall prohibit the use or replacement of existing Poles or Support Structures 
in Underground Districts for the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities subject to 
appropriate design and concealment measures and a finding that such use or replacement 
does not increase the height of the Pole or Support Structure by more than three feet.

For any such Application to install a new Pole in an Underground District, the 
Municipality may propose an alternate location in the ROW within one hundred fifty (150) 
feet of the location set forth in the Application. The Wireless Provider shall use the 
Municipality’s proposed alternate location unless the location is not Technically Feasible or 
imposes significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has made such 
a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South 
Carolina, and it shall provide a written summary of the basis for such determination. For 
Small Wireless Facilities installed before the Municipality establishes an Underground 
District, the Municipality shall either permit Wireless Providers to maintain the Small 
Wireless Facilities in place or permit the Wireless Provider to replace the associated Pole 
within fifty (50) feet of the prior location. In the latter case, the Wireless Provider shall allow 
other Communications Service Providers with attachments on the existing Pole to place 
those attachments on the replacement Pole under the same or reasonably similar fees, 
rates, terms, and conditions as applied to those attachments on the existing Pole.

(2) Historic and Design Districts. The Municipality may require reasonable, 
Technically Feasible, nondiscriminatory, and technologically neutral design and aesthetic 
requirements, stealth requirements, height limitations of no less than forty feet, and/or 
concealment measures in a Design District or Historic District. For Applications to place 
Poles in a Design District or a Historic District to deploy Small Wireless Facilities, the 
Municipality may propose an alternate location in the ROW within one hundred fifty (150)
feet of the location set forth in the Application. The Wireless Provider shall use the 
Municipality’s proposed alternate location unless the location is not Technically Feasible or 
imposes significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has made such 

42



11

a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South 
Carolina, and it shall provide a written summary of the basis for such determination.

This section may not be construed to limit a municipality's authority to enforce historic preservation 
zoning regulations consistent with the preservation of local zoning authority under 47 U.S.C. Section 
332(c)(7), the requirements for facility modifications under 47 U.S.C. Section 1455(a), or the National 
Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (54 U.S.C. Section 300101 et seq.), and the regulations adopted to 
implement those laws.

(d) Appeals, Administrative Adjustments, and Variance Requirements. The Zoning 
Administrator shall be given authority to make field based administrative adjustments considering 
the specific criteria in this section and location factors. Appeals of administrative decisions and 
requests for other variances from the provisions of this Ordinance, when strict application would 
result in an unnecessary hardship or in the inability to deploy needed Small Wireless Facilities, shall 
be heard, and decided by the Board of Zoning Appeals. An Applicant seeking an approval to 
construct a new Decorative Pole, Pole, or Support Structure to Collocate a Small Wireless Facility in 
an Underground District shall demonstrate, including certification through an engineer should staff 
find it necessary, that it has diligently attempted to locate the proposed Decorative Pole, Pole, 
Support Structure, or Small Wireless Facility outside of the Underground District and that 
placement of the Decorative Pole, Pole, Support Structure, or Small Wireless Facility within the 
Underground District is necessary to provide the needed wireless coverage or capacity, and one or 
more of the following conditions exist supporting an approval: 

(1) No existing Pole or Support Structure is located within the location search 
radius or to the extent a Pole or Support Structure is located within the search radius, such 
Pole or Support Structure:

(A) is not available for Collocation under commercially reasonable 
rates, terms, and conditions;

(B) cannot accommodate the Collocation of the Small Wireless Facility 
and meet the technical requirements necessary to deliver adequate wireless service 
coverage or capacity; or

(C) would require modifications exceeding the three-feet height 
limitation imposed in section 5(c)(1); or

(2) The only available option to deliver adequate wireless service coverage or 
capacity in the search radius requires modifications to an existing Pole or Support Structure 
exceeding the three-feet height limitation imposed in section 5(c)(1) or the installation of a 
new Pole or Support Structure for Collocation of a Small Wireless Facility, or

(3) The applicant has demonstrated other circumstances that, in the reasonable 
discretion of the applicable review body, warrant a variance.

The Applicant shall abide by the design, stealth, and concealment treatments imposed as conditions 
of the approval.

(e) Existing Supplemental Review Districts. [Supplemental Review Districts approved 
by the Municipality as of the effective date of this Ordinance are listed in Exhibit A.] Nothing in this 
Ordinance shall prohibit or otherwise limit the Municipality from establishing additional 
Supplemental Review Districts, provided however, that facilities and structures for which a Permit
was approved or deemed approved pursuant to this Ordinance prior to the establishment of the 
additional Supplemental Review District remain subject to the provisions of this Ordinance,
including routine maintenance and replacement of those facilities and structures as set out herein. 
If a Wireless Provider voluntarily replaces such facilities in a manner that does not comply with 
Section 3(e) of this Ordinance, or if a Wireless Provider voluntarily relocates such facilities, such 
replacement or relocation is subject to the then-existing provisions and requirements of the 
additional Supplemental Review District.

(f) Decorative Poles. Subject to the Municipality’s ability to deny an Application as set 
forth in this Ordinance, a Wireless Provider must be permitted to Collocate on or replace Decorative 
Poles when necessary to deploy a Small Wireless Facility.

(1) The Municipality may require the Collocation on a Decorative Pole or the 
replacement of a Decorative Pole to reasonably conform to the design aesthetics of the 
original Decorative Pole, provided these requirements are Technically Feasible.

43



12

(2) For Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on Decorative Poles 
or to replace Decorative Poles to deploy Small Wireless Facilities, the Municipality may 
propose an alternate location in the ROW within one hundred fifty feet of the location set 
forth in the Application. The Wireless Provider shall use the Municipality’s proposed 
alternate location unless the location is not Technically Feasible or imposes significant 
additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has made such a determination in 
good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South Carolina, and it shall 
provide a written summary of the basis for such determination.

(g) Repair of Damage. A Wireless Provider shall repair all damage to the ROW directly 
caused by the activities of the Wireless Provider in the ROW and shall restore the ROW to its 
condition before the damage occurred. If within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice the
Wireless Provider fails to the extent practicable in the reasonable judgment of the Municipality to 
restore the ROW to its condition prior to the damage in compliance with this subsection, the 
Municipality may, at the sole discretion of the Municipality, restore the ROW to such condition and 
charge the applicable party the reasonable, documented cost of the restoration, plus a penalty not 
to exceed five hundred dollars ($500) provided; however, that the Wireless Provider may request 
additional time to make such repairs, and the Municipality shall not unreasonably deny such a 
request. The Municipality may suspend the ability of the Wireless Provider to receive any new 
Permits from the Municipality until the Wireless Provider has paid the amount assessed for such 
restoration costs. The Municipality shall not suspend such ability of any Applicant that has deposited 
the amount in controversy in escrow pending an adjudication of the merits of the dispute.

Section 6. Effect of Permit; Occupancy and Use Fees.

(a) Authority Granted: No Property Right or Other Interest Created. A Permit from 
the Municipality authorizes an Applicant to undertake only certain activities in accordance with this
Ordinance and does not create a property right or grant any authority whatsoever to the Applicant 
to impinge upon the rights of others who may already have an interest in the ROW. The approval of 
the installation, placement, maintenance, or operation of a Small Wireless Facility pursuant to this 
Ordinance neither constitutes an authorization nor affects any authorization a Wireless Provider 
may have to provide a Communication Service or to install, place, maintain, or operate any other 
Communications Facility, including a Wireline Backhaul Facility, in a ROW.

(b) Duration. Installation or Collocation for which a Permit is granted pursuant to this 
Ordinance must be completed within one year of the Permit issuance date unless the Municipality 
and the Applicant agree to extend this period, or a delay is caused by the lack of commercial power 
or by the lack of Communications Facilities to be provided to the site by an entity that is not an 
affiliate, as that term is defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(2), of the Applicant. Approval of an 
Application authorizes the Applicant to: (1) undertake the installation or Collocation; and (2) subject 
to applicable relocation requirements and the Applicant’s right to terminate at any time, operate 
and maintain the Small Wireless Facilities and any associated Pole covered by the Permit for a period 
of ten years, which may be renewed for equivalent durations so long as the installation or 
Collocation is in compliance with the criteria set forth in this Ordinance and the Permit. Any 
conditions contained in a Permit, including without limitation conditions designed to reduce the 
visibility of the Small Wireless Facility and associated Pole, or to make any portion of the same 
appear to be something other than a Small Wireless Facility, shall apply for the entirety of the Permit 
term and shall include a duty to maintain and replace components as necessary to ensure continued 
compliance.

(c) Occupancy and Use Fees. The Municipality hereby determines that the following 
Rates for occupancy and use are reasonable and nondiscriminatory. For each Small Wireless Facility, 
the Municipality hereby imposes the following Rates:

(1) one hundred dollars ($100) per year for each Small Wireless Facility 
Collocated on any existing or replacement Pole, including an existing or replacement 
Municipality Pole; and

(2) two hundred dollars ($200) per year for each Small Wireless Facility
Collocated on a new Pole, other than a replacement Pole, which two-hundred-dollar ($200) 
Rate shall cover the new Pole and the Small Wireless Facility Collocated on it.

These Rates shall apply to a Wireless Provider regardless of whether the Wireless Provider is subject 
to a business license tax that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S. C. Code Section 58-9-2220 
or a franchise, consent, or administrative fee that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S.C. Code 
Section 58-9-2230. These Rates shall apply to a Communications Service Provider regardless of 
whether the Communications Service Provider is subject to a franchise fee that is or may be imposed 
upon it pursuant to S.C. Code Section 58-12-330.

44



13

Section 7. Removal, Relocation or Modification of a Small Wireless Facility in the ROW.

(a) Widening, Repair, Reconstruction, and Relocation. If, in the reasonable exercise of 
police powers, the Municipality requires widening, repair, reconstruction, or relocation of a public 
road or highway, or relocation of Poles, Support Structures, or Small Wireless Facilities as a result of 
a public project, a Wireless Provider shall relocate Poles and Support Structures that such Wireless 
Provider has installed in the ROW for the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities pursuant to this 
Ordinance at no cost to the Municipality if such Poles and Support Structures are found by the 
Municipality to unreasonably interfere with the widening, repair, reconstruction, or relocation 
project or the public project. If widening, repair, reconstruction, or relocation is required as a 
condition or result of a project by a Person other than the Municipality, such Person shall bear the 
cost of relocating such Poles or Support Structures and any Communications Facilities on such Poles 
or Support Structures.

(b) Emergency Removal or Relocation of Facilities. The Municipality retains the right 
to cut or move any Small Wireless Facility, Pole, or Support Structure located within the ROW as the 
Municipality, in its reasonable discretion, may determine to be necessary, appropriate, or useful in 
response to any public health or safety emergency. If circumstances permit, the Municipality shall 
notify the Wireless Provider and provide opportunity to move its own Small Wireless Facilities, 
Poles, or Support Structures prior to the Municipality cutting or removing a Small Wireless Facility, 
Pole, or Support Structure and the Municipality shall notify the Wireless Provider after cutting or 
removing a Small Wireless Facility.

(c) Abandonment of Facilities. The Applicant or the Person that owns or operates the 
Small Wireless Facility Collocated in the ROW may remove its Small Wireless Facilities at any time 
from the ROW upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Municipality and may 
cease paying to the Municipality any applicable Fees and Rates for such use, as of the date of the 
actual removal of the Small Wireless Facilities. In the event of such removal, the ROW shall be, to 
the extent practicable in the reasonable judgment of the Municipality, restored to its condition prior 
to the removal. If the Applicant fails, to the extent practicable in the reasonable judgment of the 
Municipality, to return the ROW to its condition prior to the removal within ninety (90) days of the 
removal, the Municipality may, at the sole discretion of the Municipality, restore the ROW to such 
condition and charge the Applicant the Municipality’s reasonable, documented cost of removal and 
restoration, plus a penalty not to exceed five hundred dollars ($500). The Municipality may suspend 
the ability of the Applicant to receive any new Permits from the Municipality until the Applicant has 
paid the amount assessed for such restoration The Municipality shall not suspend such ability of any 
Applicant that has deposited the amount in controversy in escrow pending an adjudication of the 
merits of the dispute.

(d) Abandonment by Inaction. At any point when a Wireless Provider fails to pay any 
required Fee or Rate, and fails to respond within sixty (60) days to a written inquiry from the 
Municipality as to whether the Wireless Provider intends to continue to operate a Small Wireless 
Facility or Support Structure, for whatever reason, the Small Wireless Facility shall be deemed 
abandoned and the Municipality may, at its sole option, remove all or any portion of the Small 
Wireless Facility or Support Structure, or take other action as authorized by law, including recovery 
of actual costs incurred in removing the Small Wireless Facility or Support Structure. 

Section 8. Attachment to Municipality Poles.

(a) Annual Rate. The rate to Collocate a Small Wireless Facility on a Municipality Pole 
shall be fifty dollars ($50) per year. This rate is in addition to reimbursement to the Municipality for 
any expenses for make-ready work. The Municipality reserves the right to require a pole attachment 
agreement to further define the terms and conditions of attachments to Municipality Poles. The 
rates specified in this section shall not apply to poles owned, or operated and accounted for as an 
asset of, a municipal electric utility.

(b) Make-Ready. The Rates, Fees, terms, and conditions for make-ready work to 
Collocate on a Municipality Pole must be nondiscriminatory, competitively neutral, commercially 
reasonable, and in compliance with this Ordinance.

(1) The Municipality shall provide a good faith estimate for any make-ready 
work necessary to enable the Pole to support the requested Collocation by a Wireless 
Provider, including Pole replacement if necessary, within sixty (60) days after receipt of a 
complete Application. Alternatively, the Municipality may require the Wireless Provider to 
perform the make-ready work and notify the Wireless Provider of such within the sixty-day 
period. If the Wireless Provider or its contractor performs the make-ready work, the Wireless 
Provider shall indemnify the Municipality for any negligence by the Wireless Provider or its 

45



14

contractor in the performance of such make-ready work and the work shall otherwise 
comply with applicable law.

(2) Make-ready work performed by or on behalf of the Municipality, including 
any Pole replacement, must be completed within sixty (60) days of written acceptance of 
the good faith estimate by the Applicant. The Municipality may require replacement of the 
Municipality Pole only if it demonstrates that the Collocation would make the Municipality 
Pole structurally unsound.

(3) The Person owning, managing, or controlling the Municipality Pole must 
not require more make-ready work than required to meet Applicable Codes or industry 
standards. Fees assessed by or on behalf of a Municipality for make-ready work, including 
any Pole replacement, must not include costs related to preexisting or prior damage or 
noncompliance; exceed either actual costs or the amount charged to other Communications 
Service Providers for similar work on similar types of Municipality Poles; or include any 
revenue or contingency-based consultant’s fees or expenses of any kind.

(4) A Wireless Provider Collocating on a Municipality Pole is responsible for 
reimbursing third parties for their actual and reasonable costs of any make-ready work 
reasonably required by the third party to accommodate the Collocation.

(c) Municipal Utilities Excluded. Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect the 
authority of a municipal electric utility to deny, limit, restrict, or determine the Rates, Fees, terms, 
and conditions for the use of or attachment to a Pole owned, or operated and accounted for as an 
asset of, a municipal electric utility.

(e) Non-Exclusivity; Non-Discrimination. A Person owning, managing, or controlling 
Municipality Poles in the ROW may not enter into an exclusive arrangement with any Person for the 
right to attach to such poles. Subject to a Municipality’s ability to deny an Application as set forth in 
this Ordinance, a Municipality shall allow the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities on Municipality 
Poles on nondiscriminatory terms and conditions in compliance with this Ordinance.

Section 9. Indemnification, Insurance, and Bonds.

(a) Indemnity. With regard to Small Wireless Facilities, Poles, and Support Structures 
that are subject to this Ordinance, the Wireless Provider shall indemnify and hold the Municipality 
and its officers and employees harmless against any claims, lawsuits, judgments, costs, liens, losses, 
expenses, or fees, to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction finds that the negligence of 
the Wireless Provider while siting, installing, maintaining, repairing replacing, relocating, 
permitting, operating, or locating Small Wireless Facilities, Poles, and Support Structures pursuant 
to this Ordinance caused the harm.

(c) Insurance. The Municipality may require a Wireless Provider to have in effect 
insurance coverage consistent with this section, so long as the Municipality imposes similar 
requirements on other ROW users and such requirements are reasonable and nondiscriminatory.
The Municipality may require a Wireless Provider to furnish proof of insurance prior to the effective 
date of a Permit. The Municipality may not require a Wireless Provider to obtain insurance naming 
the Municipality or its officers and employees as additional insureds. 

(c) Bonds. The Municipality may impose bonding requirements for Small Wireless 
Facilities if the Municipality imposes similar requirements in connection with permits issued for 
other ROW users. Such bonds may provide for the removal of abandoned or improperly maintained 
Small Wireless Facilities, including those that the Municipality determines must be removed to 
protect public health, safety, or welfare; restoration of the ROW; and recoupment of Rates or Fees 
that have not been paid by a Wireless Provider in over twelve months. Bonding requirements may 
not exceed two hundred dollars ($200) per Small Wireless Facility. For Wireless Providers with 
multiple Small Wireless Facilities within the Municipality, the total bond amount across all facilities 
may not exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000) and that amount may be combined into one bond 
instrument.

46



15

Section 10. Severability. 

In the event any title, subtitle, section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, subparagraph, 
item, sentence, clause, phrase, or work of this Ordinance is declared or adjudged to be invalid or 
unconstitutional, such declaration or adjudication shall not affect the remaining portions of the 
Ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect as if the portion so declared or adjudged invalid 
or unconstitutional was not originally a part of this Ordinance.

Section 11. Effective Date.

This Ordinance shall take effect (xxx) days after adoption.

47



16

All ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading.

INTRODUCED the 8TH day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

48



Exhibit A

Existing Supplemental Review Districts

1. Underground District – City of Goose Creek Code Title IX, Chapter 92 –
(Streets, Sidewalks, and other Public Property)

49



Exhibit B

Design Manual

*City of Goose Creek Small Wireless Design Manual 

** The Design Manual may be amended from time to time by way of a duly enacted resolution.

50



EXHIBIT B

SMALL WIRELESS DESIGN MANUAL

51



City of Goose Creek 
Small Wireless Design Manual 

www.cityofgoosecreek.com

JUNE 2021 

52



1 
This manual establishes 

guidance for installing small 

wireless equipment and poles 

in the City of Goose Creek.

1. BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

The City of Goose Creek recognizes that Small Wireless 
Facilities, including facilities commonly referred to as 
small cell, are critical to delivering wireless access to 
advanced technology, broadband, and 911 services to 
residences, businesses, and schools within the City.  

To prepare for the current and future needs in effective 
and efficient deployment, the City of Goose Creek 
provides guidelines in conjunction with applicable code 
of ordinances.

It is the intent that flexibility be provided when considering options for  installation of small wireless 
infrastructure.  The given examples of types of facilities/poles/attachments are for illustrative 
purposes only.  The City recognizes that certain proprietary and technological advancements and 
equipment may vary with providers and owners. As such, each request for specific installation shall 
be considered on a case by case basis as to the final design and placement location. 

53



2 
General guidance applicable 

to all small cell installations. 2. GENERAL GUIDANCE

All small cell wireless facility attachments or 
installations shall be reviewed by City staff.  All 
equipment shall meet the manual requirements 
and all applicable laws. A cohesive appearance 
shall be maintained with placement.  The Zoning 
Administrator reserves the right to approve 
deviations on a case by case basis in concert with 
the intent of the manual.

*Aesthetic Criteria

Consideration shall be given to the aesthetics of 
neighborhoods and streetscapes adjacent to the 
proposed site - both existing and planned 
redevelopment with the following considerations:

Emulates an architectural or landscape feature 
typical of, or appropriate to, the surrounding area

 Respects and, to the extent possible, 
compliments the style, height, bulk mass, 
material, and color of existing buildings, 
structures, vegetation, and uses within the 
surrounding area

54



Preserves existing vegetation and scenic view sheds

Respects existing topography, including minimizing 
the extent to which the proposed structure would 
be a dominant feature

Conceals conduit internally and streamlines antenna 
and equipment

 Cantenna (top portion) shall include a smooth 
transition between riser pole and attachment

Matches the color of the antenna and equipment 
with existing poles, buildings, and background

 Uses decorative metal or fiberglass supports 
consistent with the redevelopment or aesthetics effort 
of the area

Small cells shall not be located in front of adjacent 
building doorways, accessible balconies, or primary 
windows and shall be located in a manner that 
considers view plane enjoyment of adjacent 
properties.

Reasonable efforts shall be made to co-locate on 
existing poles or other structures.

Where particular requirements are technically 
infeasible, an applicant should work with City 
staff in order to discuss a mutually acceptable 
design that adheres to the standards as much 
as possible, serves the goals of the design 
manual to the extent possible, and at all times 
remaining within the bounds of applicable law.  

55



Unacceptable Installation 

Conduit, mounting 
bracket, and other 
hardware must be 
hidden from view 

Cantenna must 
include a smooth 

transition between 
riser pole and 

cantenna 
attachment 

Acceptable Installation 

 

 

56



Unacceptable Installation 

Conduit, mounting 
bracket, and other 
hardware must be 
hidden behind a 
cantenna or in a 

shroud 

Cantenna must 
include a smooth 

transition between 
riser pole and 

cantenna 

All conduit, wires, 
and other 

hardware shall be 
located internal to 

the riser pole 

Acceptable Installation 

Freestanding small wireless pole components include foundation, equipment 
cabinet, riser pole, cantenna, permitted external shroud, and all hardware and 
electrical equipment necessary for a complete assembly. 

The optional exterior mounted equipment shroud will be allowed when equipment 
cannot be located internal to the riser pole. To qualify for this, the Applicant must 
demonstrate that proposed deployment(s) cannot be integrated into the equipment 
cabinet or the cantenna. Existing wooden pole installations shall be evaluated on location 
and reasonable design capabilities. 

The exterior mounted equipment shroud shall match the pole aesthetics. Care 
should be taken to integrate the mounting attachments into the enclosure design. 
The enclosure shall be securely strapped to the pole. Wires and cabling shall be 
hidden from view. Cables and wires shall be located internal to the pole until they reach 
a cable grommet. 

57



3 
Design Catalogue3. Approved Design

It is the intent of the manual to catalogue approved plans 
to assist in rapid deployment.  Providers are encouraged 
to work with staff to achieve this goal. The City of Goose 
Creek reserves the right to accept or amend plans based 
on location, design, and development efforts.

58



rJ!!fJ BERKELEY
litA ELECTRIC 

COOPERATIVE 

Your Touchstone Energy
"' 

Partner �l'): 
SPECIFICATIONS 

POST 
North Yorkshire Series Cast Iron & Steel Post 17" Dia. Base 

• Z NY 2117 CIS BK

ESPLANADE® STYLE 

LUMINAIRE 

BOSTON HARBOUR 

NORTH YORKSHIRE 17 
CROSSARM 
BHC Series Crossarm ; Oriented at O degrees. 

• BHC48/1 CA BK -GWLF/200 SCAR
ARM LUMINAIRE 
Esplanade® Style Luminaire 

• ESU 400MH MA B 4 SS

INSTALLATION 
A door shall be provided in the base for anchorage and/or wiring access. 

• 12"0 bolt circle.

Dimensions 
• Overall Street Lamp Height: 22'-8.3"

Wind Loads 
Windloading for this post and accessories has 
been checked for the 90 mph winds where the 
post will be installed and has passed. 

Anchorage/Orjentatjon Plan 

Street Side 

I/JO" 

270" 

O" 

-

,.._ 

-

,.__ 

Customer Approval: Job Name: ___________________ _ 
Client Name: _

_________________ _

-si-gn-at-ur_e 
__________

___
__

_ d-at-e Created By: Mark Lybrand 

Catalog #Z NY 2117 CIS BK BHC48/1 CA BK •GWLF/200 
SCAR ESU 400MH MA B 4 SS 

Dwg, # HLP-10185

Date: 05-Jun-09 

Typical Example of Black Decorative Pole Type in Goose Creek, SC

Catalog Number Z NY 2117 CIS BK BHC48/1 CA BK -GWLF/200

SCA R ESU 400MH MA B 4 SS

59



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Brian Cook, Asst. City Administrator

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER PUBLIC
PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND DISTRICT - (Second and
Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
To add a new section to further clarify efforts towards orderly development which generally
requires utility services to be placed underground.

Financial Impact
None

Impact if denied
Less guidance for orderly development with utilities underground

Impact if approved
Better guidance for orderly development with utilities underground 

 

60



ORDINANCE NO.: 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND 
OTHER PUBLIC PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND 
DISTRICT

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have recognized the necessity of updating the 
Zoning Ordinance by adding a new subsection, (D) Underground District, to further clarify efforts 
towards orderly development which generally requires utility services to be placed underground; 
and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council believe it is in the best interest of the City to now so 
act with making these amendments in the Zoning Ordinance in order to provide good planning and 
zoning practices, and to provide for better guidance for orderly development with utilities 
underground.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of 
the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled, that Section 92.35 of the 
Zoning Ordinance of the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, be hereby amended as follows. 

Section. 92.35 Restoration of Surface; Relocation of Equipment; Underground District

(D) Underground District.  To promote and contribute to the safety of the public, 
appearance, and to assure orderly development, all facilities for the supply and distribution 
of electric energy, television cable, gas, telephone, data, or similar utility services, for all 
construction, infrastructure deployment and land development, shall, except as otherwise 
provided under applicable laws and regulations, be placed underground.  The Director of 
Public works, or designee, in consultation with the Zoning Administrator, reserve the right 
to consider site specific exceptions based on field conditions.

All ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading.

INTRODUCED the 8th day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

61



§ 92.35 RESTORATION OF SURFACE; RELOCATION OF EQUIPMENT; 
UNDERGROUND DISTRICT.

   (A)   Restoration. In case of any disturbance of pavement, sidewalk, driveway, 
ornamental vegetation or other surfaces by the utility pursuant to its use of the public 
streets, public properties and public rights-of-way, the utility shall, at its own cost and 
expense, and in a manner approved by the City Engineer, replace and restore all 
paving, sidewalk, driveway or surface of any street or alley disturbed in as good 
condition as before the work was commenced, in a safe and sound condition, and shall 
maintain the restoration in an improved condition for a period of five years.

   (B)   Relocation and removal. Utilities using the public streets, public property or 
public rights-of-way pursuant to this chapter shall, at their own expense and at the 
direction of the city, relocate and remove their appliances, fixtures or equipment at any 
time public necessity requires the relocation or removal because of the appliances, 
fixtures or equipment unreasonably interfering with or restricting the effective or safe 
use of the public street, public property or public right-of-way.

   (C)   Removal or existing facilities. Any poles, wires, cables, underground conduits, 
manholes, pipes or other fixtures or equipment erected or located by persons in, along, 
across, above, over and under the public streets, public properties or public rights-of-
way of the city, prior to the effective date of the ordinance from which this chapter is 
derived, must have been removed within three months after the effective date of the 
ordinance unless the utility shall have obtained permission for use of the public streets, 
public properties or public rights-of-way prior thereto in accordance with the terms of 
this chapter.

(D) Underground District.  To promote and contribute to the safety of the public,
appearance, and to assure orderly development, all facilities for the supply and 
distribution of electric energy, television cable, gas, telephone, data or similar utility 
services, for all construction, infrastructure deployment and land development, shall, 
except as otherwise provided under applicable laws and regulations, be placed 
underground. The Director of Public works, or designee, in consultation with the Zoning 
Administrator, reserve the right to consider site specific exceptions based on field 
conditions.

62



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator; Mayor and Members of City
Council

From: Brian Cook, Asst. City Administrator

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE DECLARING A MORATORIUM ON THE ISSUANCE OF NEW BUSINESS LICENSES,
PERMITS FOR EXPANSION, AND/OR CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY FOR USED AUTOMOBILE-
VEHICLE SALES AND/OR REPAIR-SERVICE SHOPS IN CERTAIN AREAS OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK
(Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
With the recently adopted Comprehensive Plan, and current evaluation of a new zoning code and
area specific overlay districts, the moratorium will permit time to establish desirable minimum
standards, where the use will be permitted, for used automobile - other vehicle sales and/or
repair shops. 
The moratorium would be applicable only within the two areas that City Council has previously
designated as incentive areas - with the goal to attract such uses as full-service restaurants, retail,
tourism businesses, cultural arts activities, research and development, technology companies,
etc. 
The Zoning Administrator has expressed concerns relative to the potential for a concentration or
proliferation of automobile centric uses in the incentive areas as an impediment to balanced
commercial development and betterment of the area. 
Records indicate approximately the following number of specific business uses in the subject
area:  (21) auto related; (4) liquor (2) beer-tobacco specific; (2) e-cigarette- vape; (2) title loan. Staff
recommends only the auto-centric uses be part of the moratorium at this time.
 
 

Financial Impact
Minimal.

Impact if denied
Potential for a concentration or proliferation of automobile centric uses.

63



Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

Impact if approved
Time to plan for desirable redevelopment options. The moratorium would not apply to existing
legally established businesses unless the use were to be expanded.

 

64



ORDINANCE NO.: 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING A MORATORIUM ON THE ISSUANCE OF NEW BUSINESS 
LICENSES, PERMITS FOR EXPANSION, AND/OR CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY FOR USED 
AUTOMOBILE-VEHICLE SALES AND/OR REPAIR-SERVICE SHOPS IN CERTAIN AREAS OF THE 
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK.

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council passed a new Comprehensive Plan in May 2021, and 
are currently working on options for a new or amended Zoning Ordinance and corridor specific 
development-redevelopment overlay districts; and, 

WHEREAS,  the Mayor and City Council are concerned about development use compatibility 
and a concentration and proliferation of automobile-vehicle centric uses as an impediment to 
balanced commercial development, and would like time to establish desirable minimum standards; 
and, 

       WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council believe it is in the best interest of the City to now so 
act to provide good planning and zoning practices, and to provide for better guidance for orderly 
development.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of the City 
of Goose Creek, South Carolina:

Section 1. MORATORIUM.  The City of Goose Creek hereby declares a moratorium on the issuance 
of new business licenses, permits for expansion, and/or certificates of occupancy for used automobile-
vehicle sales and/or repair-service shops in the basic and super incentive areas that have been 
previously designated by City Council – generally, the corridors of Red Bank Road, and portions of N/S 
Goose Creek Boulevard, and St. James Avenue.  This moratorium shall take effect as established in 
Section 4 and shall remain in effect until July 29, 2022, with an option for a six-month extension. If
Council adopts amendments to the Zoning Ordinance addressing standards and conditions for used 
automobile-vehicle sales and/or repair-service shops before the end date, the moratorium shall 
expire.

Section 2.  Severability.  Severability is intended throughout and within the provisions of this 
Ordinance.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Ordinance is held to 
be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, then that decision shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.  

Section 3. Repeal.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance, or 
inconsistent with its provisions, are hereby repealed or superseded to the extent necessary to give 
this Ordinance full force and effect.  

Section 4.  Effective Date.   This Ordinance is subject to the pending ordinance doctrine and is 
effective upon its introduction and notice of Public Hearing.

INTRODUCED the 13th day of July 2021.
DONE the day of August 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

65



 

66



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council

From: Natalie Zeigler

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA BY REVISING AND MAKING CHANGES TO CHAPTER 37 ELECTIONS, SECTION 37.03
WHEN ELECTIONS TO BE HELD (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
I received a request to add this to a workshop agenda.  This has now been discussed at two
workshops and was moved to the Council meeting for discussion and consideration.

Financial Impact

Impact if denied
Election remains with General Elections in November of even years.

Impact if approved
Elections move to the recommended municipal election day in November of odd years which is in
alignment with most major cities in South Carolina. 

November of ODD Years

Charleston

North Charleston

Columbia

Greenville

Summerville

Greer

Rock Hill

67



Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

Mount Pleasant

Spartanburg

Myrtle Beach

Moncks Corner

 

 

68



CHAPTER 37: ELECTIONS
Section
   37.01   Municipal election authority
   37.02   Reimbursement of election costs
   37.03   When elections to be held
   37.04   Special elections
   37.05   Polling place, location and time open and closed
   37.06   Non-partisan election procedure
   37.07   Determination of election results under non-partisan plurality method
   37.08   Time of taking office
   37.09   Terms of Mayor and Council
   37.10   Listing of candidates on ballot
   37.11   Results of elections
   37.12   Safeguarding the ballots
   37.13   Contest of election
   37.14   Later election in case of failure to hold when due, and the like

§ 37.01 MUNICIPAL ELECTION AUTHORITY.
   (A)   The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall advertise 
municipal elections, prepare and distribute ballots and election materials, appoint 
managers of election for each polling place, and otherwise supervise and conduct all 
municipal elections within the City of Goose Creek.
   (B)   Immediately upon the closing of the polls at any municipal election in the City of 
Goose Creek, the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall begin 
to count and continuously count the votes cast and make a statement of the whole number 
of the votes cast in such election together with the number of votes cast for each candidate 
for Mayor and Councilperson, canvas the vote and publicly display the unofficial results.
   (C)   The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall thereafter 
certify the results of the elections and transmit the certified results to the Goose Creek City 
Council or an appointed authority representing the city government as soon as practicable 
following the certification.
   (D)   The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall accept 
candidate filings and filing fees, including but not limited to notices of candidacy and 
candidacy pledges, hear and decide protests, and certify the results of municipal elections.
   (E)  The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall utilize the 
current voting system operated by the county with the count publicly conducted.
   (F)   The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall take such 
other action as may be necessary or appropriate to conduct municipal elections and certify 
the results. The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall give 
notice of any special or regular election in the city in a newspaper of general circulation in 
the county or, in addition, in such other manner as it sees fit. Notice of election for Mayor 
and Council shall be given at least 60 days prior to the date of election. All other elections 

69



shall be given as provided by the code of laws of the state. Notice shall include all necessary 
information essential to the nomination or election process, to include, when appropriate, 
the offices to be filled, dates of filing of petitions and election, and polling place and poll 
manager.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.02 REIMBURSEMENT OF ELECTION COSTS.
   (A)   The City of Goose Creek shall reimburse the Berkeley County Voter Registration and 
Election Commission for all costs incurred in providing ballots, advertising elections, 
printing costs, postage, transportation costs, temporary help, programming charges, poll 
managers compensation and other related additional expenses incurred in its conduct of 
municipal elections in the City of Goose Creek, less filing fees collected by the Berkeley 
County Voter Registration and Election Commission. If a protest is filed or litigation is 
commenced in connection with the conduct of municipal elections, the City of Goose Creek 
shall pay all court costs, attorneys’ fees, court reporters’ fees and costs, and other costs and 
expenses incurred in such protest or litigation or the defense thereof. The Berkeley County 
Registration and Election Commission shall provide invoices to the City of Goose Creek of 
all such costs and expenses incurred in the conduct of Goose Creek municipal elections, 
protests, certifications of results, litigation or other costs which may be incurred, even if 
not specifically mentioned in this chapter. Further, the City of Goose Creek shall provide 
payment upon such invoices within 30 days of receipt thereof.
   (B)   Requirements of method of nominating candidates of filing, and filing fees.
      (1)   Candidates for the Offices of Mayor and City Council shall file a statement of 
candidacy with the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission not later 
than 12:00 noon, 60 days prior to the election, but not sooner than 75 days prior to the 
election. A filing fee of $150 shall be submitted with the statement of candidacy for the 
Office of City Council. The filing fee for the Office of Mayor shall be the sum of $300. The 
Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall verify the information 
in the statement for compliance with state and city laws and place the name of the 
candidate on the ballot. All filing fees received shall be used to defray the cost of the 
election.
      (2)   Any person declaring candidacy under this section who cannot afford the required 
filing fee and who claims to be indigent shall file a written appeal for relief with the 
Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission not later than 12:00 noon, 60 
days prior to the election, but not sooner than 75 days prior to the election.
   (C)   The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission must examine the 
petitions of the candidates and determine the validity not later than 30 days prior to the 
general or special election.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.03 WHEN ELECTIONS TO BE HELD.
   The municipal general election for Mayor and Council shall be held on the first Tuesday 
following the first Monday in November in odd numbered years and it is the intent of this 
provision that the municipal election coincide with the general election for Federal, state, 

70



and county officers and if there be any postponement of the general election as a result of 
emergency or disaster, then at such time as the general election is held.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009; Ord. 18-013, passed 7-10-2018)

§ 37.04 SPECIAL ELECTIONS.
   In case a vacancy shall occur in the Office of Mayor or any member of the Council, an 
election shall be held to fill the vacancy provided the vacancy occurs 180 days or more 
prior to the next general election. Any special election which may be held shall be 
conducted according to the same rules and regulations controlling the regular municipal 
elections.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.05 POLLING PLACE, LOCATION AND TIME OPEN AND CLOSED.
   The location of the polls and the hours of opening and closing the polls shall be according 
to the general election laws of the state at such locations as may be published prior to the 
election.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009; Ord. 18-013, passed 7-10-2018)

§ 37.06 NON-PARTISAN ELECTION PROCEDURE.
   All regular and special elections for the Office of Mayor and/or Councilmember for the 
city shall be non-partisan elections held pursuant to applicable state statutes. No political 
party affiliation shall be placed on any ballot for any candidate. Public notice of all elections 
shall be given at least 90 days prior to the elections.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.07 DETERMINATION OF ELECTION RESULTS UNDER NON-PARTISAN PLURALITY 
METHOD.
   The winners shall be determined by the nonpartisan plurality method set forth in S.C. 
Code § 5-15-61;
   (A)   When more than one person is seeking election to a single office, the candidate who 
receives the highest number of votes shall be declared elected.
   (B)   When more persons are seeking election to two or more offices (constituting a 
group) than there are offices to be filled, those candidates receiving the highest number of 
votes, equal in number to the number of offices to be filled, shall be declared elected.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009; Ord. 18-013, passed 7-10-2018)

§ 37.08 TIME OF TAKING OFFICE.
   Newly elected officers shall be qualified after at least 48 hours after the closing of the 
polls. If the results of the election are contested, the incumbent who fills the contested 
office shall hold over until the contestant is finally determined. Elected officers shall take 
office 30 days after being qualified by the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election 
Commission.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

71



§ 37.09 TERMS OF MAYOR AND COUNCIL.
   The Mayor and City Council shall be elected for a term of four years. The terms of Council 
shall be staggered so that not more than one half of the Council and Mayor shall be elected 
in the same general election.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.10 LISTING OF CANDIDATES ON BALLOT.
   All candidates for office shall be listed in alphabetical order under the names of the office 
being sought, and all candidates shall be listed without title. Nicknames shall not be used 
unless approved by the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission. 
Insofar as possible, the style of the general election ballot shall be the same as that 
prescribed in the code of laws of the state for general elections. One space for each office to 
be filled must be allowed for the voters to write in the name of any qualified person for 
whom they may wish to vote.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.11 RESULTS OF ELECTIONS.
   The managers of the municipal election shall officially certify the results of the election to 
the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission on the day following the 
election. The Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall officially 
declare the results of the election within 72 hours following the close of the election. The 
declaration shall be made to the Mayor and Council who shall officially notify the 
candidates of the results.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.12 SAFEGUARDING THE BALLOTS.
   After any municipal election has been conducted and the official ballots have been duly 
conducted and tabulated, the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission 
shall place the ballots into the envelopes which shall be sealed and the envelopes 
containing the ballots shall be placed into ballot boxes. The ballot boxes containing the 
ballots shall be locked and placed in the city safe or other equally secure place. The keys to 
the ballot boxes shall be placed in the custody of the Berkeley County Voter Registration 
and Election Commission. The ballots shall be left undisturbed in the city safe or other 
place unless the Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall order 
the ballots released for the purpose of a contested election as provided by the laws of the 
state or for conducting a recount as provided by the laws of the state. After the proceedings 
of a contested election have been completed or adjourned for the day, the ballots shall be 
redeposited in the city safe or other equally secure place according to the procedure 
described above. If no appeals are made or no contests filed, the Berkeley County Voter 
Registration and Election Commission shall order, in writing, the ballots destroyed at the 
end of the third week following the date of the election; provided that no ballots shall be 
destroyed until all appeals have been decided.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

72



§ 37.13 CONTEST OF ELECTION.
   (A)   Within 48 hours after the closing of the polls, any candidate may contest the result of 
the election as reported by the managers by filing a written notice of the contest together 
with a concise statement of the grounds therefor with the Berkeley County Voter 
Registration and Election Commission. Within 48 hours after the filing of the notice, the 
Berkeley County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall, after due notice to the 
parties concerned, conduct a hearing on the contest, decide the issues raised, file its report 
together with all recorded testimony and exhibits, with the Clerk of Court of the county, 
notify the parties concerned of the decision made and when the decision invalidates the 
election, the Council shall order a new election as to the parties concerned.
   (B)   Neither the Mayor nor any member of Council shall be eligible to pass on the issues 
arising in any contest in which the person is a party.
   (C)   Within ten days after notice of the decision of the Berkeley County Voter Registration 
and Election Commission, any party aggrieved thereby may appeal from the decision to the 
Court of Common Pleas. Notice of appeal shall be served on the opposing parties or their 
attorneys and filed in the office of the Clerk of Court within ten days. The notice of appeal 
shall act as a stay of further proceedings pending the appeal.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

§ 37.14 LATER ELECTION IN CASE OF FAILURE TO HOLD WHEN DUE, AND THE LIKE.
   Whenever any election of the city shall fail of its purpose because of a tie vote or 
otherwise, or whenever any election shall fail to be held for any reason, the Berkeley 
County Voter Registration and Election Commission shall, whenever the failure appears, 
proceed forthwith to appoint a day and advertise for and hold another election and so 
continue to do so until the purpose of the election has been attained.
(Ord. 09-006, passed 10-13-2009)

73



Page 1 of 1

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORIDNANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 37: ELECTIONS OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 
CAROLINA CODE OF ORDINANCES BY REVISING AND MAKING CHANGES TO THE FOLLOWING 
SECTION: 37.03 WHEN ELECTIONS TO BE HELD

WHEREAS, the City of Goose Creek’s ordinances currently provide for municipal elections to be 
held on the first Tuesday following the first Monday in November in each even numbered year;

WHEREAS, the Municipal Association of South Carolina and the State Elections Commission, 
recommend creating a Municipal Election Day in South Carolina;

WHEREAS, the State Elections Commission Executive Director in the April 2020 MASC Uptown 
Article stated that holding municipal elections along with a general election means the municipal election 
appears at the bottom of the ballots resulting in a drop off in the number of voters casting ballots in those 
races;

WHEREAS, 154 cities in South Carolina have adopted the recommended municipal election date in 
November of odd years including Charleston, Greenville, North Charleston, Columbia and only 34 cities hold 
municipal elections in November of even years;

WHEREAS, to facilitate a change in date of municipal elections from November of even years to 
the recommended Municipal Election Day of the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of odd 
years, the Mayor and Council members elected in 2020 will serve until their successors are sworn in as a 
result of the election held in November of 2025.   The Council members elected in 2018 will serve until their 
successors are sworn in after the election held in November 2023. Should any vacancy occur prior to these 
dates, the elected successor shall serve the remainder of the term of the official they are replacing.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Goose 
Creek, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled, that the Code of Ordinances of the City of Goose Creek, South 
Carolina, shall be and are hereby amended as follows:

Section 37.03 governing when elections shall be held shall be deleted in its entirety and in its place the 
following section shall appear: 

§ 37.03 WHEN ELECTIONS TO BE HELD. 

The municipal general election for Mayor and Council shall be held on the first Tuesday following 
the first Monday in November in odd numbered years and if there be any postponement of the general 
election as a result of emergency or disaster, then at such time as the general election is held.  

All ordinances and provisions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed, and if any sentence, clause, 
phrase, or word contained herein shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of the 
remainder of this ordinance.

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading.

INTRODUCED the 13th day of July 2021.
DONE the day of August 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest: 
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

74



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Kelly J. Lovette, City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________

City Administrator:

____________________

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 33: CITY ORGANIZATIONS, CULTURAL ARTS COMMISSION,
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, BY REPEALING
IN ITS ENTIRETY SECTION 33.102 COMPOSITION AND FUNCTIONS AND ADOPTING IN LIEU
THEREOF A NEW SECTION 33.102 COMPOSITION AND FUNCTIONS, WHICH IS MADE A PART
HEREOF AS IS FULLY SET OUT HEREIN (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
There has been difficulty in recruiting applicants to serve on the Cultural Arts Commission (CAC). It
is hopeful that by opening up the application process to the citizens who reside within the Goose
Creek Recreation Special Purpose Tax District, that we will receive more applications from those
willing to serve on the CAC.

Financial Impact
None.

Impact if denied
Shortage of applicants interested in applying to serve on the CAC.

Impact if approved
It is City staff's hope that opening the application process to the citizens of the Goose Creek
Special Purpose Tax District will provide for more applicants interested in applying for and serving
on the CAC.
 

75



Signature & Date Signature & Date
 

76



Page 1 of 1

     ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 33: CITY ORGANIZATIONS, CULTURAL ARTS 
COMMISSION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, BY REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY SECTION 33.102 COMPOSITION AND
FUNCTIONS AND ADOPTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 33.102 COMPOSITION 
AND FUNCTIONS, WHICH IS MADE A PART HEREOF AS IS FULLY SET OUT HEREIN

WHEREAS, in an effort to open recruiting for commission members to the Cultural Arts 
Commission, the Mayor and City Council are including the citizens of the Goose Creek Recreation 
Special Purpose Tax District.   

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City 
Council of the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled, that the current 
Section 33.102 Composition and Functions, is hereby repealed and replaced with the following 
code section and is hereby adopted as follows:

Section 33.102 Composition and Functions

The Cultural Arts Commission shall consist of seven (7) members, of which five (5) shall 
be citizens of the City and two (2) shall be citizens of the Goose Creek Recreation Special Purpose 
Tax District, and who shall be appointed by City Council to serve two-year terms at the pleasure 
of City Council. The terms commence on the day of the appointment and continue for two (2) 
years or until City Council appoints a replacement. 

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading.

INTRODUCED the 13th day of July, 2021.

DONE the day of August, 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

77



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator; Mayor and City Council

From: Kelly J. Lovette, City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
Approval of Records Retention Schedule - Fire/EMS Department - (COVID-19 VACCINATION
RECORDS) - City Clerk

Background Summary
The attached newly created Records Retention Schedule is being submitted for approval as
required under the provisions of Title 30, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, Section 30-1-10
through 30-1-40, as amended.

Financial Impact
None.

Impact if denied
The City of Goose Creek would not be in compliance, as required under SC Code of Laws.

Impact if approved
The City of Goose Creek would be in compliance with SC Code of Laws.
 

 

78



79



80



81



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council

From: Tyler Howanyk, CFO

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
MONTHLY REPORT OF CONTRACTS OVER $25,000; EXEMPTIONS AND 2021 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET
APPROVALS (Informational Purposes Only)

Background Summary
In accordance with the purchasing policy ordinance number 2021-015, passed on June 8, 2021, all
contracts authorized by city staff, pursuant to section 34.40, the City Administrator shall make a
report to City Council at its regular public meeting and at other meetings, as appropriate, of all
contracts authorized by City staff, pursuant to section 34.40, as outlined below:
34.40  APPROVAL BY CITY COUNCIL OF CONTRACTS OVER $25,000; EXEMPTIONS AND PRIOR
APPROVALS
City Council shall approve all contracts over $25,000, except:
    (A)   Contracts and items as listed in § 34.22  EXEMPTIONS
     (B)  Contracts for goods and/or services approved by City Council by an identifiable line item in
the current budget year
      (C)   Contracts for good and/or services that (i) are a part of a larger transaction that has
already been approved by City Council and (ii) do not exceed the amount budgeted for such part
in the original approval
      (D)   Contracts for goods and/or services that are to be paid with proceeds of a debt issue if the
project is identified in the ordinance authorizing the bond issue; and
       (E)   Contracts which do not exceed by more than 10%, up to a $25,000 maximum, the amount
previously authorized by City Council via the methods set forth in (B), (C) or (D) of this section. 
All contracts authorized by city staff, pursuant to this section, shall be subject to all foregoing
sections of this Ordinance.  The City Administrator shall make a report of all such contracts to City
Council at its regular public meeting and at other meetings, as appropriate.
 
The following item(s) qualify under this section and are therefore included in the City
Administrators report 

Financial Impact

82



Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

n/a

Impact if denied
n/a

Impact if approved
n/a

 

83



CITY OF GOOSE CREEK
LISTING OF ITEMS OVER $25,000 THAT ARE EXEMPT FROM PURCHASING POLICY OR HAVE HAD PRIOR APPROVAL
FOR THE PERIOD: JUNE/JULY 2021

DEPARTMENT ACCOUNT NUMBER
DESCRIPTION 

OF ITEM
BUDGETED 

AMOUNT

REMAINING 
BUDGET 
BEFORE 

PURCHASE
PURCHASE 

PRICE

AMOUNT 
(OVER)/UNDER 
BUDGET AFTER 

PURCHASE
Sanitation 100-631-000-800-8073 Roll Carts 59,602.00$     29,787.88$     28,408.44$     1,379.44$         

84



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator; Mayor and City Council

From: Kelly Lovette, City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
June Monthly Department Reports (Informational Purposes Only)

Background Summary

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111


	City Council Agenda
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - CC Meeting 06-8, 2021 DRAFT.doc
	Item a. - CC Workshop 06-22-2021_Draft.doc
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - PR_ One Region Roadmap Survey.pdf
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - Rev.1 CCStaffReportHoweHall.docx
	Item a. - 2021-007MAStaff Report - Howe Hall mini Storage Rezone.pdf
	Item a. - Rev.1Ordinance_HOWEHALL_Road_COtoGC.docx
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - CCPublicHearingSTAFFREPORTstarttimeDRAFT.docx
	Item b. - CCStartTimeZONINGOrdinance (2).docx
	Item b. - ZBATimeCodeStrikethrough.docx
	Item b. - ARBTimeCodeStrikethrough.docx
	Item c. - Cover Page
	Item c. - 2021-SWF-Model-Ordinance__FINAL_5-13-2021___1_ (7).docx
	Item c. - SWF Design Manual (8JUN2021)pdf
	Item d. - Cover Page
	Item d. - Ordinance-Underground__8JUN2021_ (5).docx
	Item d. - Underground Text Amendment (8JUN2021).docx
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - Ordinance__moratorium_ (6).docx
	Item a. - Incentive Zones.pdf
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - Odd Election Change.docx
	Item b. - Change_to_When_Elections_are_Held_-_Ordinance_June_2018 (1).docx
	Item c. - Cover Page
	Item c. - Cultural Commission Ord.Proposed Number by City vs. Rec District_Draft.docx
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - Records Retention Schedule.pdf
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - 2021-07-09 City Council Meeting.pdf
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - Monthly Department Reports.pdf



